
 
 

 

1 
Governance & Member Support Officer: Zoe Borman (01277 312736) 
Brentwood Borough Council, Town Hall, Ingrave Road, Brentwood, Essex CM15 8AY 

01277 312 500   www.brentwood.gov.uk   
 

 
Agenda 
 

Licensing Sub-Committee 
Monday, 28 June 2021 at 10.00 am 

Council Chamber - Town Hall 
 

Membership (Quorum – 3 ) 
 

Cllrs Bridge, Fryd and Laplain 
 
 

Agenda 
Item 
 

 
Item 
 

 
Wards(s) 
Affected 
 

 
Page No 

Contents 
Live broadcast 
 Live broadcast to start at 10am and available for repeat viewing.  
1.   Appointment of Chair 

 
 

 
 

 

2.   Administrative Function 
Members are respectfully reminded that, in determining the 
matters listed below, they are exercising an administrative 
function with the civil burden of proof, i.e. ‘on the balance of 
probabilities’.  The matter will be determined on the facts before 
the Sub-Committee and the rules of natural justice will apply. 
 

 
 

 

3.   Bloc 40, First Floor, 40 High Street, Brentwood, CM14 4AJ  - 
Review of premises licence 
To follow 
 

Brentwoo
d South 
 

5 - 256 

Live broadcast 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.brentwood.gov.uk/
https://youtu.be/FQdgmXsH1Ro


 
2 
 

 
Jonathan Stephenson 
 Chief Executive 
 
Town Hall 
Brentwood, Essex 
18.06.2021 

 
 



 
3 

 

Information for Members 

Substitutes 

The names of substitutes shall be announced at the start of the meeting by the Chair and the substitution shall cease 
at the end of the meeting. 
 
Where substitution is permitted, substitutes for quasi judicial/regulatory committees must be drawn from Members 
who have received training in quasi- judicial/regulatory decision making. If a casual vacancy occurs on a quasi 
judicial/regulatory committee it will not be filled until the nominated member has been trained. 
 

Rights to Attend and Speak 

Any Members may attend any Committee to which these procedure rules apply. 
 
A Member who is not a member of the Committee may speak at the meeting.  The Member may speak at the Chair’s 
discretion, it being the expectation that a Member will be allowed to speak on a ward matter.   
 
Members requiring further information, or with specific questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer 
at least two working days before the meeting.   
 

Point of Order/ Personal explanation/ Point of Information 

Point of Order 

A member may raise a point of order 
at any time. The Mayor will hear 
them immediately. A point of order 
may only relate to an alleged breach 
of these Procedure Rules or the law. 
The Member must indicate the rule 
or law and the way in which they 
consider it has been broken. The 
ruling of the Mayor on the point of 
order will be final. 

Personal Explanation 

A member may make a personal 
explanation at any time. A personal 
explanation must relate to some 
material part of an earlier speech by 
the member which may appear to 
have been misunderstood in the 
present debate, or outside of the 
meeting.  The ruling of the Mayor on 
the admissibility of a personal 
explanation will be final. 
 

Point of Information or 
clarification 

A point of information or clarification 
must relate to the matter being 
debated. If a Member wishes to raise 
a point of information, he/she must 
first seek the permission of the 
Mayor. The Member must specify the 
nature of the information he/she 
wishes to provide and its importance 
to the current debate, If the Mayor 
gives his/her permission, the 
Member will give the additional 
information succinctly. Points of 
Information or clarification should be 
used in exceptional circumstances 
and should not be used to interrupt 
other speakers or to make a further 
speech when he/she has already 
spoken during the debate. The ruling 
of the Mayor on the admissibility of a 
point of information or clarification 
will be final. 

 
 

Information for Members of the Public 

 Access to Information and Meetings 

You have the right to attend all meetings of the Council and Committees.  You also have the right to see the agenda, 
which will be published no later than 5 working days before the meeting, and minutes once they are published.  
Dates of the meetings are available at www.brentwood.gov.uk. 

 Guidelines on filming, photography, recording and use of social media at council and committee 

meetings 

The council welcomes the filming, photography, recording and use of social media at council and committee meetings 
as a means of reporting on its proceedings because it helps to make the council more transparent and accountable to 
its local communities. 
 
Where members of the public use a laptop, tablet device, smart phone or similar devices to make recordings, these 
devices must be set to ‘silent’ mode to avoid interrupting proceedings of the council or committee. 
 
If you wish to record the proceedings of a meeting and have any special requirements or are intending to bring in 
large equipment then please contact the Communications Team before the meeting. 
 
The use of flash photography or additional lighting may be allowed provided it has been discussed prior to the 
meeting and agreement reached to ensure that it will not disrupt proceedings. 
 
The Chair of the meeting may terminate or suspend filming, photography, recording and use of social media if any of 

https://brentwoodwebdav.moderngov.co.uk/f8614670-0560-4d7c-a605-98a1b7c4a116-066-427a5f39-5a686c62-65376d6c/AgendaDocs/7/3/5/A00001537/$$Agenda.doc#http://www.brentwood.gov.uk


 
4 

 

these activities, in their opinion, are disrupting proceedings at the meeting. 
  

Private Session 

Occasionally meetings will need to discuss some of its business in private.  This can only happen on a limited range 
of issues, which are set by law.  When a Committee does so, you will be asked to leave the meeting. 
 

 modern.gov app 

View upcoming public committee documents on your Apple or Android device with the free modern.gov app. 
 

 Access 

There is wheelchair access to the meeting venue from 
the Main Entrance.  If you do wish to attend this meeting, 
please contact the clerk should you have specific 
accessibility needs.  There is an induction loop in the 
meeting room.   

 Evacuation Procedures 

Evacuate the building using the nearest available exit 
and congregate at the assembly point in the Car Park. 

http://www.moderngov.co.uk/


28 July 2019 
 
Licensing Committee 
 
Licensing Sub-Committee Hearing in respect of an  
Application for a Summary Review of a Premises Licence – 
Licensing Act 2003 
 
Bloc 40, First Floor, 40 High Street, Brentwood, CM14 4AJ. 
 

 
 

Report of: Paul Adams –Licensing Manager  
 

Wards Affected:      
 

This report is:  Private 
 

1. Executive Summary 

1.1 An application has been received for a summary review of the premises licence      
in respect of Bloc 40, First Floor, 40 High Street, Brentwood CM14 4AJ.  
This is the full hearing to review the premises licence and decide whether the 
interim steps in place should be withdrawn or modified.  

 
 

2.   Recommendation(s) 
 

2.1          That the Sub Committee: 

a) Considers the application for summary review and any relevant 

representations and consider what steps are appropriate for the 

promotion of the licensing objectives, taking into account any change 

in circumstances since the interim steps were imposed.  

 
b) Review the interim steps already taken. 

 
3.  Introduction and Background 
 
3.1 Summary reviews can be undertaken when the police consider that the premises 

concerned are associated with serious crime or serious disorder (or both). The 
summary review process, set out under sections 53A-53D of the 2003 Act, allows 
interim conditions to be quickly attached to a licence and a fast-track licence 
review  

 
3.2 Within 48 hours of receipt of the chief officer’s application, the licensing authority 

must give the premises licence holder and responsible authorities a notice of the 
review and should include a copy of the application for review and a copy of the 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



certificate and must also consider whether it is necessary to take interim steps 
(place temporary conditions on the licence).  

 

 
3.3 If the licensing authority decides to take steps at the initial interim stage: 
  

•  the decision takes effect immediately, or as soon after it as the licensing 
authority directs; but  

 
•  the licensing authority must give immediate notice of its decision and its 

reasons for doing so to the holder of the premises licence and the chief 
officer of police who made the application. 

 
3.4 A hearing has already been held to decide on the interim steps. This hearing is 

the full review of the premises licence must take place within 28 days from the 
date of receipt of this application. There can be no adjournment of this hearing 
or delay in reaching a determination beyond the 28-day period, which for this 
application will be 1 July 2021. 

 
4. The Application 
 
4.1 On the 3 June 2021 at 16:03hrs, an application for a Summary Review was 

received from Senior Licensing Officer Gary Burke on behalf of the chief of police 
for Essex, with regards to Bloc 40, First Floor, 40 High Street, Brentwood CM14 
4AJ. A copy of the premises licence for the is attached as Appendix A.  

 
4.2 The application follows an incident on Saturday 29 May, where a suspect entered 

the premises and within a short time, was involved in a large disturbance in the 
smoking area.  During this disturbance, the suspect stabbed a male in the upper 
leg using an unknown weapon he appeared to have concealed in his belt area.  
The victim required hospital treatment for his injury.  Within 10 minutes, the 
suspect leaves the premises via a stairway in the smoking area and engages in 
another disturbance at the front of the premises, where he then proceeded to 
stab a male in the buttocks which required hospital treatment.  This victim also 
had head injuries requiring treatment as a result of either having glass smashed 
on his head or from being stamped on.  CCTV appears to show someone being 
stamped on while on the floor during this disturbance and the victim states he 
was hit in the face with a glass bottle when trying to leave the premises. A fully 
copy of the application including the certificate is attached as Appendix B. 

 
 
4.4 At a hearing on the 3 June 2021 the licensing subcommittee agreed as interim 

steps to suspend the licence, a copy of this decision notice is attached as 
Appendix C.  

 

Page 6



4.5 Representation against these interim steps were received on the 3 June 2021 but 
were subsequently withdrawn by the licence holder on the 8 of June 2021 before 
they were considered by the committee on the 9 June 2021. 

 
4.6 In addition to the Summary Review application, Essex Police have also 

submitted an additional bundle as the full police submission which does include 
CCTV footage which has been supplied to the licence holder in advance of this 
hearing. a copy of the representation can be found at Appendix D. 

  
4.6 Following public consultation on the review application the following 6 additional 

representations were received:  
 

1) Elaine Higgins, Principal Environmental Health Officer as the Responsible 

Authority for Health and Safety, a copy of the representation can be found at 

Appendix E.  

 

2) David Carter, Environmental Health Manager as the Responsible Authority for 

Environmental Health Noise Team, a copy of the representation can be found 

at Appendix F. 

 
3) David Leonard, Licensing Officer as the Responsible Authority on behalf of 

the Licensing Authority, a copy of their representation can be found at 

Appendix G. Part of this representation includes CCTV footage which has 

been supplied to the licence holder in advance of this hearing.  

 
4) Resident Rep 1 – as an Other Person, a copy of their representation can be 

found at Appendix H. 

 
5) Resident Rep 2 – as an Other Person, a copy of their representation can be 

found at Appendix H. 

 
6) Resident Rep 3 – as an Other Person, a copy of their representation can be 

found at Appendix H. 

 
5. Reasons for Recommendation 
 
5.1 The following steps that the licensing authority can take are:  
 

• the modification of the conditions of the premises licence;  
• the exclusion of a licensable activity from the scope of the licence;  
• the removal of the designated premises supervisor from the licence;  

Page 7



• the suspension of the licence for a period not exceeding 3 months; and 
• the revocation of the licence. 

  
Modification of the conditions of the premises licence can include the alteration or 
modification of existing conditions or addition of any new conditions, including 
those that restrict the times at which licensable activities authorised by the 
licence can take place. 
 

5.2 To ensure that there are appropriate and proportionate safeguards in place at all 
times, the licensing authority is required to review any steps that it has taken that 
are in place at the time of this hearing and consider whether it is appropriate for 
the promotion of the licensing objectives for the steps to remain in place, or if 
they should be modified or withdrawn. The review of the interim steps should 
take place immediately after the determination of this review has been reached.  
 

5.3 The decision of the committee does not take effect for 21 days (unless appealed 
during that period). Interim steps, modified or not, continue to take effect during 
this period, unless withdrawn, and in the case of an appeal until that final 
determination has taken place.  

 
6. Consultation 
 
6.1 The application has been consulted on in accordance with the requirements of 

the Licensing Act 2003, and all responses have been included in this report. 
 
7. Statement of Licensing Policy 
 
7.1 There are no specific parts of the policy that is relevant to this hearing. 
 
8. Relevant Section of the Secretary of State’s Guidance 
 
8.1 Section 12 relates specifically to Summary Reviews. 
 
9.       Legal Considerations 
 
9.1 There is a right of appeal for all parties against the review decision within 21 

days.   
 
9.2 There is also a right of appeal against the review of the interim steps for both the 

licence holder and the Police. 
 
10. Appendices to the report: 
 

 Appendix A - Premises Licence,  

 Appendix B - Application for Summary Review and supporting material. 

 Appendix C – Decision notice for interim steps. 

Page 8



 Appendix D – Essex Police additional bundle. 

 Appendix E – Elaine Higgins, Principal Environmental Health Officer 

Representation.  

 Appendix F – David Carter, Environmental Health Manager Representation. 

 Appendix G – Dave Leonard, Licensing Officer Representation. 

 Appendix H –Resident’s 1,2 and 3  Representations.  

 
Report Author Contact Details: 

 
Name: Paul Adams 
Telephone: 01277 312642 
E-mail: licensing@brentwood.gov.uk  
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 11

Appendix A



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



RESTRICTED 

A603 (20/10/14)                                                          RESTRICTED                                                   Page 1 of 3 

Application for  
summary licence review 

 
[Brentwood Borough Council 
Town Hall, Ingrave Road, Brentwood, Essex, CM15 8AY] 
 
Licensing Authority premises licence number (optional): PRM_0545 

 

Application for the review of a premises licence under section 53A of the Licensing 
Act 2003 (premises associated with serious crime or disorder) 

PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS FIRST 
 
Before completing this form please read the guidance notes at the end of the form. If you are completing 
the form by hand please write legibly in block capitals. In all cases ensure that your answers are inside 
the boxes and written in black ink. Use additional sheets if necessary. 
 
I Gary Burke [on behalf of] the chief officer of police for the Essex Police area apply for the review of a 
premises licence under section 53A of the Licensing Act 2003. 

 

1. Premises details: 

Postal address of premises, or if none or not known, ordnance survey map reference or description: 

 BLOC 40 
FIRST FLOOR 
40 HIGH STREET 
BRENTWOOD 
ESSEX CM14 4AJ 

 

  

Post town: BRENTWOOD Post code (if known): CM14 4AJ  
  

 

2. Premises licence details: 
  

Name of premises licence holder (if known): A A TRADING LTD  
  

Number of premises licence holder (if known): 1  
  

 

3. Certificate under section 53A(1)(b) of the Licensing Act 2003 [Please read guidance note 1]: 

I confirm that a certificate has been given by a senior member of the police force for the police area 
above that in his opinion the above premises are associated with serious crime or disorder or both, 
and the certificate accompanies this application. 
 
(Please tick the box to confirm)   

 

Page 27

Appendix B



RESTRICTED 

A603 (20/10/14)                                                          RESTRICTED                                                   Page 2 of 3 

4. Details of association of the above premises with serious crime, serious disorder or both: 
[Please read guidance note 2] 

On Saturday 29 May, a suspect entered the premises and within a short time, was involved in a large 
disturbance in the smoking area.  During this disturbance, the suspect stabbed a male in the upper leg 
using an unknown weapon he appeared to have concealed in his belt area.  The victim required 
hospital treatment for his injury.   
 
Within 10 minutes, the suspect leaves the premises via a stairway in the smoking area and engages in 
another disturbance at the front of the premises, where he then proceeded to stab a male in the 
buttocks which required hospital treatment.  This victim also had head injuries requiring treatment as a 
result of either having glass smashed on his head or from being stamped on.  CCTV appears to show 
someone being stamped on while on the floor during this disturbance and the victim states he was hit 
in the face with a glass bottle when trying to leave the premises. 
 
The serious nature of this incident and the apparent lack of searching or intervention from doorstaff 
indicate that effective steps need to be taken to ensure the safety of customers and the prevention of 
further serious crime and disorder.  
 
As per paragraph 12.1 of the Licensing Act guidance, summary reviews can be undertaken when the 
police consider that the premises concerned are associated with serious crime or serious disorder (or 
both).  The summary review process, set out under sections 53A-53D of the 2003 Act, allows interim 
conditions to be quickly attached to a licence and a fast track licence review.  As part of this summary 
review process, the suggested interim conditions to be put in place ahead of a full hearing are as 
follows; 
 
- Suspension of licence to allow police to work with the licence holder with a view to agree 
amendments to the licence conditions, terminal hour and training needs ahead of a full hearing.  
Alternatively, a series of conditions or amendments to the licence including; 
 
- A Clubscan/IDSCAN or similar system shall be operated at the premises. All persons entering the 
premises must provide verifiable ID and have their details recorded on the system; 
- Use of metal detector wands from 2300hrs for every customer; 
- Increase security in the areas where stabbings took place; 
- Terminal hour of midnight (but if no change to terminal hour, that there is no customer entry or 
reentry to venue after midnight).  
 
Essex Police are mindful of paragraph 12.16 of the guidance where very careful consideration needs 
to be given to interim steps which would require significant cost or permanent or semi-permanent 
adjustments to premises which would be difficult to remove if the outcome of the subsequent full 
review was to withdraw or modify those steps. 
 
This application has been made at the earliest available time that Essex Police considered its 
representations could withstand the scrutiny to which they would be subject at a hearing (a 
requirement of the Statutory Guidance, paragraph 9.12), and its application would not undermine any 
parallel criminal investigation.  
 
The Chief Officer of Police will submit further material and representations to support his initial 
representation above during the statutory consultation period and his representation will be amplified 
at the subsequent review hearing. 
  
The Chief Officer of Police confirms that he or his representative will ‘attend’ any hearing held in 
regards this application. 
  
IT IS REQUESTED THAT PARTS OF THE HEARING FOLLOWING THIS REVIEW APPLICATION IS 
HELD IN ‘CAMERA’ (In accordance with Regulation 14(2) of The Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) 
Regulations 2005) – as at the hearing matters not yet heard by a criminal court will be presented and 
thus may compromise criminal proceedings if disclosed publicly. For similar reasons, subsequent 
supplementary material may not be suitable for publication on the Authority’s website. 
  Page 28



RESTRICTED 

A603 (20/10/14)                                                          RESTRICTED                                                   Page 3 of 3 

 
 

Signature of applicant: GBurke   
 

Date: 03/06/2021   
 

Capacity: SENIOR LICENSING OFFICER FOR ESSEX POLICE   
  

 

5. Contact details for matters concerning this application: 

 
Address: LICENSING TEAM, BRAINTREE POLICE STATION, BLYTHS MEADOW, 

BRAINTREE, CM7 3DJ 
 

  

Telephone number(s): 01245452035  
  

Email: licensing.applications@essex.police.uk   
  

 

Notes for guidance: 
 

1. A certificate of the kind mentioned in the form must accompany the application in order for it to be 
valid under the terms of the Licensing Act 2003. The certificate must explicitly state the senior officer’s 
opinion that the premises in question are associated with serious crime, serious disorder or both. 
Serious crime is defined by reference to section 81 of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
2000. In summary, it means: 
- conduct that amounts to one or more criminal offences for which a person who has attained the age 
of eighteen and has no previous convictions could reasonably be expected to be sentenced to 
imprisonment for a term of three years or more; or 
- conduct that amounts to one or more criminal offences and involves the use of violence, results in 
substantial financial gain or is conduct by a large number of persons in pursuit of a common purpose. 
Serious disorder is not defined in legislation, and so bears its ordinary English meaning. 
 
2. Briefly describe the circumstances giving rise to the opinion that the above premises are associated 
with serious crime, serious disorder, or both. 
 

 

Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION 
 
The sub-committee heard evidence from the Essex Police officers in attendance as to the 
circumstances surrounding the incident on 29 May 2021 at the premises. 
 
They considered that in the light of what they had heard it was necessary to suspend the 
premises licence as an interim step pending the review of that premises licence. 
 
This was primarily because of: 
 

1. The seriousness of the incidents: significant injuries had been sustained; 
2. The apparent inadequacy of the management response: ten minutes elapsed 

between the first and second stabbings and there was very little evidence of security 
taking control of the situation following the first attack; and 

3. There was evidence of multiple breaches of the conditions on the premises licence, 
including the use of a glass bottle as a weapon, public use of the external stairs 
giving access to the outside area, and no evidence of door staff wearing high-
visibility clothing. 

 
Licensing sub-committee 
4 June 2021 
 
 

Page 33

Appendix C



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Premises Licence Summary Review 

Bloc 40, 
First Floor, 40 High Street, Brentwood, CM14 4AJ 

Supplementary information in support of summary review. 

PUBLIC VERSION 

NOTE: This document has been redacted to prevent any interference with ongoing 

investigations and court proceedings. 

Page 35

Appendix D



2 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Bloc 40 is a late-night licensed premises located on Brentwood High Street.  It 

is a destination venue that attracts customers from both inside and outside 

Brentwood.   

1.2 On 29 May 2021, 2 males were stabbed during a disturbance at the premises. 

One male has been charged with two counts of GBH and 2 others are currently 

on bail for affray. 

1.3 This led to Essex Police calling for a summary review, and on the 4th June a 

licensing sub-committee determined the premises licence should be 

suspended as ‘interim steps, awaiting a full hearing. 

2.0 CIRCUMSTANCES LEADING TO REVIEW 

2.1 The majority of the incidents of assault were caught on CCTV belonging to the 

premises and this has been provided to Essex Police as part of the 

investigations (Exhibit GB/01). The following is an account created from viewing 

this CCTV footage. 

2.2 The suspect attempted to gain entry to the premises, but was denied multiple 

times by the security team.  However, this decision was overridden by a 

member of staff believed to be responsible for bookings.  This is not contained 

on the CCTV provided, but is mentioned in statements received by Brentwood 

Borough Council from the security company; . 

2.3 

 stabbed a male in the upper leg using an unknown 

weapon . 

2.4 

2.5 

The victim can be seen to stagger backwards into the group of security 

immediately after getting stabbed.  The victim was then believed to have been 

brought inside to receive first aid treatment from a member/members of the 

security team and later underwent hospital treatment for his injury.  During the 

fighting in the smoking area, it can be seen that security staff try to break it up 

at the beginning, but as it continues they move to a corner and watch instead. 

Prior to the fight at least 2 customers can be seen consuming from 

bottles/drinks containers whilst standing (a breach by the premises of 

the coronavirus regulations requiring patrons to be seated whilst eating 

and drinking); despite the presence of security staff. 

CCTV shows that the fighting then moves inside and continues in the reception 

area.  The footage from this area clearly shows one customer attempting to use 

a bottle as a weapon until told not to by security.  At least one other bottle can 

Page 36



 

3 
 

be seen in the hands of a security team member, presumably either taken 

directly from a customer or picked up to prevent its use as a weapon. 

2.6 The groups are then separated with one leaving via the front entrance and the 

seen to be escorted to the stairs at the rear of the 

premises via the smoking area. 

2.7 CCTV from the front of the premises shows the fighting resume and  

  This victim required 

hospital treatment for the stab wound and head injuries as a result of apparently 

having glass smashed on his head, however, this is not captured on CCTV. 

2.8 During the disturbance at the front of the premises,  

 

This is the point at which the security team member that was 

observing the fight goes back inside the premises. 

2.9  

  Officers from Essex Police then arrive and the footage ends.  

2.10 It should be noted that it was at times difficult to identify members of the security 

team on the CCTV.  All were dressed in identical black uniform consisting of a 

tactical vest and ‘combat’ gloves (highly unusual in this setting) and dark/black 

attire.  Several were wearing hoodies and one can be seen wearing a full 

balaclava.  Examination of individual door supervisors from a number of angles 

shows that none were wearing an SIA licence on their sleeves or in a 

translusent pocket on their tactical vests.  It is a condition of a ‘Front Line’ SIA 

licence that an individual must wear their licence where it can be seen at all 

times when engaging in designated licensable activity (such as they were 

deployed).  A failure to comply with licence conditions is a criminal offence 

under Section 9 of the Private Security Industry Act 2001.  No door supervisors 

working outside the premises were wearing high visibility clothing (a condition 

of the licence). 

2.11 Footage shows door supervisors failing to intercede on a number of occasions 

and outside footage clearly shows one door supervisor standing idly by as he 

watches a fight breakout at the entrance. 

2.12 To assist the sub-committee when it views the CCTV footage; a timeline has 

been created as Appendix B. 

2.13 Though the premises has an identification scanner to verify individuals’ 

identities and make these available if necessary for crime detection purposes, 

this was not in use on the night.  Clearly the search procedures (if any) on the 

night failed to work. 

3.0 OUTCOME SOUGHT 

3.1 Bloc 40 is a ‘destination venue’ frequented by a large proportion of patrons who 

travel the A12/ London to Shenfield corridor.  On the night in question two 

persons were stabbed and others injured as a direct consequence in failures 

Page 37



 

4 
 

how admission to the venue was managed and by an apparent total failure in 

how the staff from  managed the incidents.   

3.2 Individual door supervisors reported that   

with others in his group, been refused entry 3 times because of 

their demeanour but this decision was overruled by a staff member employed 

to look after the guest list. 

3.3 CCTV evidence shows individual door supervisors watching on as assaults take 

place and indeed walking away from such assaults. 

3.4 CCTV evidence shows apparent door supervisors dressed all in black, wearing 

‘combat’ gloves with knuckle protectors, some with hoodies and another with a 

full-face balaclava.  CCTV shows these door supervisors were not wearing SIA 

badges (as required by law) in prominent positions – if at all.  Those deployed 

outside were not wearing high visibility clothing as required by one of the 

premises licence conditions and other licence conditions were also breached. 

3.5 The manner of dress and apparent lack of activity by door supervisors is 

considered highly undesirable by the Chief Officer of Police.  

3.6 In May 2019, at a meeting between the licence holder, police and council, a 

licensing officer from Brentwood Council pointed out to the licence holder 8 

separate breaches of licensing conditions that were required to be addressed.   

We understand that in a separate representation that Brentwood Council 

licensing will evidence continued failures to abide by some of these same 

licence conditions. 

3.7 In August 2019 following an incident, the premises had given an undertaking to 

the police (but not as a condition of the licence) that IDSCAN or similar would 

be in use to confirm the identity of patrons and thus deter offenders.  On the 

night in question this device was not in use. 

3.8 Similarly, at a meeting in January 2020, Mr ) gave 

an undertaking that two door supervisors would always wear body worn video 

(BWV) – again, on the night in question, these were not evident. 

3.9 In setting out the outcome that Essex Police seeks, the Chief Officer of 

Police is mindful that his original summary review application sought, 

“Suspension of the licence to agree amendments to the licence 

conditions, terminal hours and training needs”. 

3.10 It is the police view that earlier undertakings given to the police and mitigations 

to identified risks were not followed through and licence conditions were not 

adhered to ahead of the events of the night in question and indeed contributed 

to those events, as did the complete failure of the venue’s security 

arrangements.  Furthermore, the management took no steps to ensure its door 

supervisors were identifiable as such and that they complied with the law 

relating to the display of SIA identification. 

Page 38



 

5 
 

3.11 Thus, the licensing authority should take a twin approach to its decision making 

regarding the premises licence. 

a) The first approach is one of deterrence, to both this venue’s management 

and the management of other Brentwood venues, where a venue has failed 

to honour previous undertakings, failed to comply with licence conditions, 

failed to ensure SIA door supervisors display their licences and where these 

failings have contributed to serious crime and disorder. 

b) The second approach is one of looking forward to promoting the licensing 

objectives and in particular prevent crime and disorder and promote public 

safety as regards the specific venue in question 

3.12 That deterrence is an appropriate factor to consider upon a review of a 

premises licence, the case of R (Bassetlaw District Council) v Worksop 

Magistrates’ Court; [2008] WLR (D) 350 may be considered appropriate 

authority.  In this context considered before the High Court, remedial measures 

(such as the imposition of additional conditions) were distinguished from 

legitimate deterrent (punitive) measures such as revocation or suspension.  Its 

determination was that a licensing authority was not restricted solely to remedial 

action. 

3.13 Thus a suspension of the licence, as a deterrent, is a perfectly acceptable 

course of action for a licensing authority to take, despite Paragraph 11.20 of the 

Statutory Guidance issued under section 182 Licensing Act 2003 stating: 

“In deciding which of these powers to invoke (i.e. revocation, 

suspension, modifying licence conditions etc.), it is expected that 

licensing authorities should so far as possible seek to establish the 

cause or causes of the concerns that the representations identify.  The 

remedial action taken should generally be directed at these causes and 

should always be no more than an appropriate and proportionate 

response to address the causes of concern that instigated the review.” 

3.14 In particular, deterrence (to poor management and a failure to abide by previous 

undertakings) is explicitly countenanced by Paragraph 11.23 of the same 

Guidance.  

3.15 To further promote the licensing objectives (the second approach),  Essex 

Police has drawn up a list of modified conditions (Appendix A) which it is 

believed will directly address the failings identified in its assessment of the 

incident leading to this review.  The solicitor acting for the premises licence 

holder has indicated his client is willing to accept these conditions. 

3.16 The Chief Officer of Police requests the following outcome at the full 

licensing hearing: 

a) Suspension of the premises licence for a period of 3 months; AND 

b) The modification of the premises licence conditions as set out in 

Appendix A of this submission. 

Page 39



 

6 
 

3.17 The Chief Officer of Police also asks that the existing interim steps 

(licence suspension) remain in place until the expiration of the appeal 

period or an appeal’s determination.  This is because the sub-committee’s 

final decision is held in abeyance until the outcome of any appeal; save 

where it imposes interim steps. 

  

Page 40



 

7 
 

APPENDIX A 

Proposed Modifications of Licence Conditions 

In addition to any period of licence suspension, Essex Police would propose the 

following modifications to the existing licence conditions. 

Additional conditions 

1) At all times where, as a condition of the licence, door supervisors are 

employed at the premises, a Clubscan/IDSCAN or similar system shall be 

operated at the premises. All persons entering the premises must provide 

verifiable ID and have their details recorded on the system. 

2) At all times where, as a condition of the licence, door supervisors are 

employed at the premises, all customers entering the premises will be subject 

to a scan with a metal detector wand. 

3) After midnight, no persons shall be admitted or re-admitted to the premises 

unless from a designated smoking area.  Notices to that effect (of a minimum 

size of 200mm x 148mm) will be displayed at the premises’ exits/entrances. 

4) At all times where, as a condition of the licence, door supervisors are 

employed at the premises, at least two door supervisors will wear Body Worn 

Video Cameras (BWV).  Recordings of BWV shall be retained for a minimum 

of 31 days and be made available to Essex Police or an authorised officer of 

the licensing authority upon reasonable request. 

Door supervisors will be required to activate the recording function of such 

devices under the following conditions: 

a. Any use of force situations; 

b. When it may be reasonably supposed a use of force situation is 

imminent; 

c. When conducting a non-intimate consensual search as a condition of 

entry; 

d. When dealing with an individual who is making threats of violence 

toward any other person; or 

e. Initial scene capture where a criminal offence appears to have taken 

place. 

5) On commencement of initial employment at the venue, each door supervisor 

shall be briefed by both a head doorman and a management representative 

which covers use of force, the tone to be set etc. and a record made of who 

delivered the briefing and to whom. This briefing will be refreshed every six 

months and similarly recorded. 

Page 41



 

8 
 

6) When door supervisors are engaged and/or working at the premises, non-

intimate searches of patrons or proposed patrons, will take place in areas 

where searching will be recorded on CCTV 

Revised Conditions 

Revision to existing condition 8 – to now read 

1) All SIA licensed door supervisors engaged at the premises for the purpose of 

supervising customers must wear high visibility armbands and those deployed 

outside must also where high visibility jackets or vests.  Door supervisors are 

prohibited from concealing their heads or faces by the use of 

balaclavas/hoodies or similar items of clothing. 

Revision to existing condition 5 - To now read 

2) An incident log shall be kept at the premises and made immediately available 

to police or licensing authority staff upon reasonable request. 

The log must be completed as soon as is possible and within any case within 

4 hours of the occurrence and shall record the following:  

(a) all crimes reported to the venue  

(b) all ejections of patrons  

(c) any complaints received concerning crime and disorder  

(d) any incidents of disorder  

(e) all seizures of drugs or offensive weapons  

(f) any faults in a CCTV system, searching equipment or scanning equipment 

mandated as a condition of the licence 

The incident log shall either be electronic or maintained in a bound document 

with individually numbered pages and be retained for at least 12 months from 

the date of the last entry. 

Removal of Condition 

Removal of condition 9 – the document referred to no longer exists. 

 

  

Page 42



 

9 
 

APPENDIX B 

Bloc 40 CCTV 

29 May 2021 Incident timeline 

 

3 clips (.avi format), renamed to; 

• Reception 

• Smoking area 

• Entrance 

 

The term ‘security’ refers to individuals assumed to be part of the security team, but some 

may also be Bloc 40 employees. 

 

Smoking area; 

Elapsed Time Actual Time Event 
   

   
 

  
 

   
 

 
   

 
 

 
   

 
 

   
 

 –    
 

   
 

  
 

   
 

 
 

   
 

 

  

Page 43



 

10 
 

Reception area;  

Elapsed Time Actual Time Event 

   
0:00 – 2:20 01:16:21 – 01:18:42 general coming and going of customers (flashing 

lights can be seen showing premises is in use – 
unknown in what capacity i.e. nightclub, bar, 
restaurant etc) 
 

   
 

 
   

 
   

   
 

   
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

Smoking area;  

Elapsed Time Actual Time Event 
   

   
 

   
 

 

   
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

  

Page 44



 

11 
 

Entrance;  

Elapsed Time Actual Time Event 

   
   

 

   
 

 

   
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

 

   
 

 

   
 
 

 
 

 
   

 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



MEMO  From Elaine Higgins   

To:  Licensing 

Our ref  21/001084/LICON 

Your ref  

cc   

Date  15th June 2021 

 

Location First Floor, 40 High Street, Brentwood, Essex 

Details Dear Colleagues, 
 
Please find attached an application for review and associated certificate 
received from Essex Police on 3 June 2021 at 16:02hrs in relation to  
 
BLOC 40, FIRST FLOOR, 40 HIGH STREET, BRENTWOOD CM14 4AJ 
 
 
If you wish to make representation in relation to this application for 
review, please do so by email to licensing@brentwood.gov.uk by the 
close of business on the 17 June 2021.  

 
Further to the application for review, I confirm that as Environmental Health (Health 
and Food Safety) I have a number of concerns. I am therefore making a 
representation as a responsible authority in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003. 
This representation is under the licensing objective of Public Safety.  
 
The premises are subject to an application for a new premises licence, dated 11 
June 2020, to which I made representation and the following matters have not been 
resolved.  
 
Public Safety 
 
1.  I have concerns that persons’ are not prevented from falling from the edge of the 

outside area and that objects such as drinking vessels could fall or be thrown from 
height.  

 
Annex 2, part 10 of the existing premises licence conditions requires that a screen be 
installed along the wall, a minimum height of 2m (or a height specified by building 
control) to prevent objects falling off and/or being thrown.  

 
2.  Details were requested of the type and layout of external furniture. The concerns are 

that furniture could be located adjacent to the edge of the outside area where persons 
could stand to fall or for objects to fall or be thrown from height. The locations of 
furniture will also highlight safe access from the terrace in an emergency and assist in 
demonstrating the safe capacity of persons to be reasonably accommodated in this 
area.  

 

Page 47

Appendix E



3. Are there any design and structural calculations of a safe load for the outside area? 
Are there any fragile surfaces, such as skylights that have been covered that could 
permit a fall from height from the outside area? The outside area is not a smooth 
consistent surface and it would appear that there are some raised areas which may be 
covered skylights. A safe capacity for persons in this outside area is requested.  

 
COVID-19 
 
During the Coronavirus restrictions, I received a request to attend the premises in company 
with Dave Leonard, Licensing Officer to consider if there were breaches of Coronavirus 
legislation. In particular I was considering whether there was adequate spacing between 
tables and chairs to permit social distancing of 2m between tables. I attended site on 23 
September, where Mr Dadds and Mr Melin did not attend, so did not gain access and again 
at 13:16 on 24 September 2020.  
 
When I attempted to take photographs of the seating layout at the time I was approached by 
Mr David Dadds, representing Mr Melin, who prevented me from taking photographs. 
Instead he insisted on taking the photographs and agreed to send these to me by email.  
 
I made a number of observations and followed this up by email on 25 September. The 
content of my email was: 
 
Hello Mr Dadds 

 

Thank you for meeting with me yesterday.  

 

As per our discussions please now forward me the photographs that you took of the seating at my request, after 

you had prevented us from taking photographs in the venue.  I note that the some of the seating that is now not 

to be used has been marked with tape to effect social distancing.  I also requested a plan of the premises with 

the seating laid out to demonstrate the location of this. Mr Mellin explained that the area by the DJ booth and 

the larger horseshoe seating against the entrance wall will be split into two smaller groupings by barriers or 

screens, which must be in place or the social distancing managed temporarily in a different way to ensure 

compliance with the regulations when the premises is open to customers next. 

 

I would appreciate an agreed timescale for this work to be completed, along with the screening discussed 

between the back to back booths. In the meantime these seats are to be used as discussed, and marked with 

hazard tape. 2m distance is to be maintained between persons seated, in different groups. 

 

Can you also forward the amended risk assessment, taking into account the changes in legislation since the risk 

assessment that was previously sent, and the comments made by my manager Paul Adams in his letter from 

Friday last week and the additional matters identified on my visit  which were: 

• Toilet use should be controlled to reduce mingling.  

• Hand towels should be removed and replaced with disposable hand drying materials 

• I would advise that the middle ladies toilet be locked to prevent use and encourage social distancing 

• The men’s urial to be taken out of use 

• The men’s toilet door to be propped open to reduce hand contact 

• Increased cleaning regime for hand contact surfaces such as the toilet door plates and handles 

• Supply of sanitiser to toilet entrance/exits.  

 

Could you also please identify what is the seated capacity of the venue is with compliance with the Coronavirus 

regulations, and what the capacity for the smoking area will be in relation Coronavirus controls. 

 

Please forward the photographs and plan by midday Monday, and the written risk assessment as soon as 

completed, but by Friday next week at the latest.   

 

The contents of this email will be shared with Essex County Council Public Health Director.  

 

Kind regards 

Page 48



 

Elaine  

 
No response was received to my email and I did not receive the requested photographs, 
amended risk assessments or seating plan. I sent a follow up email on 6 October again 
requesting a response. No response was received to either of these requests.  
 
CCTV 
 
I have viewed some of the CCTV footage of the roof terrace, entrance and foyer of the 
incident that led to this application for review.  
 
The CCTV confirms my concerns for the outside area in that although there are metal 
barriers alongside the walls, these are not substantial. Images show that the barriers are 
below shoulder height and not at a height of 2m as licence condition to Annex 2, part 10 
requires. The barriers are metal crowd barriers that are not fixed or joined together. During 
the footage persons are seen pushing, or being pushed against the barriers which give freely 
and do not provide a substantial protection against the edge of the roof-top.  
 
Furthermore, the current Coronavirus Regulations require that persons are seated at a table 
and supplied with table service. There are no tables or chairs in the outside area. Persons 
may use this area to smoke; however the CCTV footage clearly shows that not all of those 
present in this area were smoking. Therefore, the area should not have been used in this 
way as non-smokers should be seated at a table.  
 
The CCTV also shows a member of public grab a mop from a bucket that has been left in 
this area. This was taken from the bucket and down the back stairs, this could have been 
used as a weapon. For the purposes of public safety, a mop and bucket should not have 
been in this area.  
 
The CCTV from the front outside entrance highlights three of the metal barriers, which when 
pushed against, fall easily. This is concerning that when used on the roof, outside area, the 
barriers would not prevent a fall from height.  
 
The CCTV of the upstairs foyer area highlights that very few members of public, and only 
one member of staff were wearing face masks. These are required under Coronavirus 
legislation, unless exempt, when entering and leaving premises and should only be removed 
when seated at a table. 
 
I also noted a member of public in the upstairs foyer area holding a glass bottle upside 
down. Licence condition Annex 2, part 26 requires that the premises is only to serve drinks 
in polycarbonate, plastic or other safety glass. 
 
Therefore, the CCTV shows breaches of both Licence conditions and Coronavirus 
legislation.   
 
Elaine Higgins 
Principal Environmental Health Officer 
 
 
 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 51

Appendix F



Page 52



Page 53



Brentwood Borough Council, Town Hall, Ingrave Road, Brentwood, Essex CM15 8AY 

tel 01277 312 500   fax 01277 312 743   minicom 01277 312 809   www.brentwood.gov.uk 

 

 

      
Date: 14 June 2021 

 
 

Our ref: 21/001042/LIPRCO     
Your ref:  

The Licensing Authority 
Brentwood Borough Council 
Town Hall 
Ingrave Road 
Brentwood 
Essex 
CM15 8AY 
                      
cc  
 
 
Dear Sirs 
 

Application for summary licence review - Licensing Act 2003 
Bloc 40 First Floor 40 High Street Brentwood 

 
I refer to the above application to application for summary review of the premises licence 
at Bloc 40, First Floor 40 High Street Brentwood received on 3 June 2021 by the Pollution 
Team of Brentwood Borough Council. 
 
I would wish to make the following representation on behalf of the Pollution Team. 
 
The application for review relates to an incident taking place on 29 May, initially in the 
smoking area of the premises at the rear of the venue on the first floor of the building.  The 
police have raised concerns relating to the operation and security of the smoking area and 
have requested a reduction of the terminal hour to midnight; or that customers are not 
permitted to enter or re-enter the premises after midnight. 
 
On behalf of the Pollution Team, I would wish to support these requests with regard to the 
licensing objective of prevention of public nuisance.  The operation of these premises late 
at night, particularly at the weekends, has given rise to several complaints from residents 
living in Brentwood High Street and adjacent areas including Alfred Road to the rear of the 
venue. 
 
These complaints have alleged disturbance as a result of customers using the rear 
smoking area, with the rear door to the venue permitting noise breakout from the bar area 
of the venue and noise from customers permitted in the open-air area at the rear. 
 
Noise disturbance has also been reported from persons leaving the venue using the front 
entrance on Brentwood High Street late at night and in the early hours of the morning, 
together with noise from customers queuing outside the venue and occasional 
disturbances at the front of the venue. 

Page 54



Brentwood Borough Council, Town Hall, Ingrave Road, Brentwood, Essex CM15 8AY 

tel 01277 312 500   fax 01277 312 743   minicom 01277 312 809   www.brentwood.gov.uk 

 

 

In view of the potential for complaints from residents that are affected by the operation of 
the venue as a ‘nightlife venue’ situated some distance away from the majority of other 
licensed premises in Brentwood town centre, I would wish the licensing committee to 
support the requested variations to the premises licence from the licensing objective of 
prevention of public nuisance as well as the prevention of crime and disorder, in particular 
with regard to the terminal hour and the proposal to increase security in the areas where 
stabbings took place as this will also assist in controlling the number and behaviour of 
customers in the smoking area, which is again linked to the licensing objective of 
prevention of public nuisance. 
 
Condition 2 of Annex 3 of the premises licence limits the capacity of the terrace to 30 
people at any one time. 
 
In addition to the above comments, it is noted that there has been no contact from the 
premises to arrange for agreed tests on sound levels or the installation of a noise limiter, 
which is in breach of condition 22 of Annex 2 and condition 4 of Annex 3 of the premises 
licence. These concerns were first raised in 2019 and again in 2020, with no further 
response from the premises or their legal representative. 
 
Yours faithfully  

 
 

 
David Carter 
Environmental Health Manager  
 
Environmental Health & Licensing                                        
Tel: 01277 312509 
email: david.carter@brentwood.gov.uk 
 

Page 55



 

 
 
Tue 21/05/2019 16:26 
 
RE: Application for a Minor Variation to a Premises Licence or a Club Premises 
Certificate Submitted - Reference: MVPrL117770091 
 
 
To The Licensing Authority 
 
I wish to make a representation on the above application for minor variation to a Premises 
Licence made on behalf of Bloc 40, First Floor 40 High Street Brentwood.  
 

The representation relates to the licensing objective of prevention of public nuisance.  
 

The chief area of concern to Environmental Health is the issue of noise from the premises 
causing complaint to local residents.  
Officers have received complaints of noise since the premises opened and residents are 
becoming increasingly concerned and annoyed by noise emanating from the premises.  
The issues relate to bass from music being played, from customers outside the premises 
and on the rear smoking area as well as music noise breakout from the front door and rear 
door onto the first floor smoking area.  
 

The plan submitted dated 17/04/2019 indicates that the installation for the DJ booth has 
moved from the original proposal where the location was adjacent to the wall on the right 
hand side of the entrance staircase.  The DJ booth has been installed on the front wall of 
the premises, facing away from the High Street, with bass speakers contained at the front 
of the booth.  A significant component of the bass output of the sound system at the club 
is coming from this location. 
 
My opinion is that the original proposal, where the DJ booth was to be installed parallel to 
the High Street was better from an acoustic viewpoint.  In this location, loudspeakers at 
the front of the booth would face away from residential occupation in the High Street and 
Alfred Road areas, both of which have been the source of several complaints to the 
Council from various locations over the weeks since the premises has opened.  
 
In addition to the revision of the location of the DJ booth, the plan submitted shows the 
removal of doors at the top of the staircase, which means that there is now no physical 
barrier between the main club room and the entrance staircase.  This allows for greater 
likelihood of noise transmission down the staircase to the entrance onto the High Street 
from the main room at the premises. 
 
I would therefore wish to object to the revision of the plans as indicated in this application, 
which has been undertaken without prior notification or discussion with Environmental 
Health.  
 

There has been no contact from the premises to arrange for tests on sound levels or the 
installation of a noise limiter, in breach of condition 4 attached to the premises licence.  
Following our visit to the premises on 12th April, there has been no response to the 
concerns which have been raised with management at the premises. 
 

Page 56



 

 
 
 
Regards 
 
David 
David Carter | Environmental Health Manager & Deputy GM Corporate Enforcement | Brentwood Borough Council  
T 01277 312500 | F 01277 312743 | www.brentwood.gov.uk |david.carter@brentwood.gov.uk 
 

 
 

Page 57

http://www.brentwood.gov.uk/
mailto:david.carter@brentwood.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Licensing Act 2003 – Application to Review a Premises Licence 
Bloc 40, first Floor, 40 High Street, Brentwood CM14 4AJ 
 
Representation by a Responsible Authority (Licensing) 
 
 
I wish to make a representation in support of the application by the Chief of Essex 
Police to review the premises licence at Bloc 40, First Floor, 40 High Street, 
Brentwood CM14 4AJ.  

I make this representation as a Responsible Authority (Licensing) in my capacity as the 
Brentwood Borough Council Licensing Officer as permitted by virtue of the Licensing 
Act 2003 (as amended).  

 

On Thursday, 5th March 2015 at 1.05pm, whilst at work in the High Street, I noticed 

some men taking dismantled snooker tables out of Brentwood Snooker & Poker Club 

and loading them onto a van. I introduced myself and produced my identification to a 

man who informed me that he was the new manager and stated that he was working 

for his business partner and new owner, Alfie Adam (AA Trading Ltd).  

I was making a note of this information and asked the male his name and who he was 
in relation to this. The man challenged why I needed his details and I explained that I 
was merely noting this as there would need to be further communication relating to the 
premises licence that had been suspended for non-payment of annual fees. Again, I 
asked the man’s name and he said, “ALI”. I asked, “ALI what?” He said, “Just ALI.” He 
clearly did not wish to disclose his details and stated that I didn’t need to know them as 
he was just a friend of the owner. I now know this man, who claimed to be ALI when 
we first met, as Ahmet Melin.     

On Tuesday, 14TH April 2015 at 11.30AM, together with the former Principal Licensing 
Officer, Gary O’Shea and former Essex Police Licensing Officer, Peter Jones, I 
attended the premises and met with Ahmet Melin, who now described himself as the 
manager. During the course of the meeting and inspection of the premises – which had 
now been converted from a snooker hall to a sports lounge - we were shown out on to 
the flat roof at the rear of the premises accessible through a fire escape door. Once 
outside, I noted that there was a fire escape to the rear of the shopping parade and 
access to residential flats immediately above the snooker club. Mr. Melin stated that it 

Paul Adams 
Licensing Manager, 
Brentwood Borough Council Depot 
The Drive 
Warley CM13 3BH 

Date:  
 

17 June 2021 

Contact: Dave Leonard 
01277 312523 

Page 59

Appendix G



 

was their intention to adapt the outside flat roof terrace to become a smoking and café 
area. I voiced my concerns that this was not a practically sound idea with residential 
flats immediately above, unsecured access from the rear, no safety assurances that 
the roof was constructed for such use and if it would be fit for purpose and the 
surrounding walls at the edge of the roof appeared dangerously low to safeguard 
customers using that area. He claimed that he was going to fit RSJs across the roof 
and ensure that additional safety measures were put into place and we all accepted 
that there was the potential to evolve the project subject to following the correct 
protocols. During the site visit, I also noticed three poker tables in the middle of the 
floor. When asked if he was removing them along with the snooker tables, Mr Melin 
stated that they looked ‘nice’ and he was going to keep them there as a feature. He 
stated that he didn’t know much about gambling or the processes but was planning to 
let customers ‘play’ for free just as a sideline attraction. 

On Thursday, 28th May 2015, at 1.20pm, I received a call from Mr. Melin stating that he 
had been given the safety okay for the smoking area on the roof terrace from Mr. Gary 
Price in the Building Control Office at the Council. Mr Melin has never produced any 
written confirmation of approval or consent as to the safety of using the roof terrace as 
anything other than a fire escape. 

On Sunday, 3rd May 2015, The Sports Lounge screened the Floyd Mayweather fight 
live from America. I subsequently viewed BBC CCTV footage of persons still leaving 
the Sports Lounge at 6am. No Temporary Event Notice (TEN) had been applied for to 
cover the additional hours the premises continued to stay open.   

On Saturday, 30th May 2015, at 11.40pm, after dealing with a noise complaint against 
the premises, together with Gary O’Shea, I visited the Sports Lounge and spoke with 
Mr Melin and the designated premises supervisor, Mr Artan Zefi. During the meeting I 
asked if there was a CCTV system fitted and operating. Mr. Melin said, “We have 31 
days coverage. 24/7.” I said, “24/7?” Melin said, “24/7.” I said, “Do you care to show 
me how it works then?  For example, can you show me the footage recorded on 4th 
May, please?” From the confident response and address of the previous question, Mr. 
Melin appeared a little startled at the request and said, “I can’t operate it. Only the 
technician who fitted it can do that.” He then showed me a USB plug and claimed that 
any coverage request would be downloaded to a USB memory stick and made 
available. I made a request to see that footage of the date referred to and said to him 
that I was interested to see at what time they were open to when showing the 
Mayweather fight. Mr. Melin smiled and said something along the lines of okay I put my 
hands up it may have gone on a little late but I didn’t realize I could apply for an 
extension. I apologize. I explained that for a premises operating to the hours it does it 
was all the more reason for having a CCTV system fit for purpose, capable of 
immediate reviewing and, more importantly, that should be a condition on the premises 
licence which it currently wasn’t. Mr. Melin said, “You’re not happy that I gave you that 
false name when we first met, are you? Can we start again? After all we will be 
working together.” I admitted that I was not impressed with his initial attitude and did 
not expect to be lied to but conceded that it was time to move on. 

I told Mr. Melin that all I was interested in was that he was operating to a set of 
conditions on a premises licence that were relevant to the business and that he was 
operating in compliance with the promotion of the four licensing objectives. I told Mr. 
Melin that if he was prepared and willing to do that then we would get on fine and we 
shook hands. 

Page 60



 

On Tuesday, 6th October 2015 at 12.45pm, together with Mr Gary O’Shea and Mr 
Peter Jones, I met with Mrs. Heidi Hards and Mr. Clive Noblett, officers from the 
Gambling Commission in a pre-meeting before attending the Sports Lounge. Mr. 
Noblett had been involved in a previous investigation against Mr. Melin who had 
applied for, and been granted, a Club Gaming Permit and Club Premise Certificate in 
2011 for The Big Bluff Private Members Club in Enfield, the location being a former 
snooker hall. At 1.30pm, we all went to The Sports Lounge and met with Mr. Melin and 
Mr. Zefi. Upon seeing Mr. Noblett and Mrs Hards, Mr. Melin immediately became very 
aggressive and abusive, a side of his character that I had not seen before. The police 
explained that the Gambling Commission had been invited merely to inspect the 
premises and advise in their area of expertise. Mr. Melin repeatedly swore, claiming 
that he had been ambushed and that the Gambling Commission had nothing to do with 
his licence. He refused to interact with the officers and repeatedly told them to ‘fuck off 
out of his premises’. I did ask if he would kindly refrain from swearing in the presence 
of a lady but he did not wish to relent and insisted that they leave the premises. In the 
interests of having a constructive meeting and having seen the premises, the officers 
consented to leave. Almost immediately, Mr. Melin’s demeanour changed and he was 
apologetic for his outburst claiming that it was Mr. Noblett who was responsible for him 
going to prison. Mr. Melin admitted that this is why he had been less than candid 
initially because of his previous reputation. He denied that poker was being played on 
the premises and showed us a room that had been created by the erecting a partition 
wall. The poker table had been dissembled and two dart boards put up on the wall for 
use by the club’s dart team. Mr. Melin also stated that he had represented himself at a 
previous licensing hearing and so I asked him if he did have knowledge of the 
Licensing Act and procedure to which he replied, “Of course I do.”  

On Thursday, 2nd June 2016, the Licensing Office received an application from Mr. 
Stephen Blake, on behalf of the Environmental Health team, seeking a review of the 
Sports Lounge premises licence citing that the premises licence holding had failed to 
promote the licensing objectives with regards to the prevention of public nuisance. 

I made representation supporting the application to review the premises licence 
against the Sports Lounge as it was my contention that they failed to adequately 
promote the licensing objectives relating to the prevention of crime and disorder, 
prevention of public nuisance and potentially to public safety. From the outset, I have 
attempted to work with the management of the premises and to assist in improving the 
position with regards to both the promotion of these objectives and the compliance with 
conditions attached to the premises licence. Despite repeated requests to meet with 
the premises licence holder and address the terms and conditions of the current 
licence over an extended period, he has been unable or unwilling to engage with me. 

Prior to April 2015, The Brentwood Snooker Club, First Floor, 40 High Street, 
Brentwood CM14 4AJ had been dormant and closed for a number of years.  
On 23rd April 2015, the current premises licence holder, AA Trading Ltd (company no. 
09287224), took transfer of the premises licence and re-opened the venue. At that time 
Mr Alfie Adam was listed at Companies House as the Director of AA Trading Ltd. 
Records show that Mr Adam resigned from the company on 11th April 2016 and on 11th 
April 2016 the new Company Director appointed was Mr Ahmet Melin. 
 
Since AA Trading Ltd acquired the premises licence on 23rd April 2015, the premises 
has, over time, morphed from a members only snooker club, to a sports bar called The 
Sports Lounge and finally evolved into a late night bar, BLOC 40, on 11th March 2019. 

Page 61



 

From that first day of meeting on 5th March 2015, and throughout the transformation 
process of the last six years, there has been only one constant at First Floor, 40 High 
Street, Brentwood CM14 4AJ. Ahmet Melin.  
 
As with every visit made to the premises, the staff invariably end up showing us to the 
manager’s office where we are greeted by Mr Melin. I can probably count on one hand 
the occasions that the DPS has been on premises and/or available to speak with us.  
 
AA Trading Ltd has nominated five designated premises supervisors (DPSs) to 
manage the premises. Mr Artan Zefi was the first DPS and he did tend to be present 
and managing at the premises on nearly every occasion I visited but he was clearly 
answerable to Mr Melin.  
 
On 29th March 2018, an application for a new premises licence at the location was 
submitted by AA Trading Ltd. Representations against this application were made by 
Essex Police Licensing Officer, Mr Peter Jones, Environmental Health Officer, Mr 
Stephen Blake, Principal Environmental Health Officer for Health & Safety, Ms Elaine 
Higgins and me. We all shared reservations over the proposed use of the outside first 
floor roof area and asked for further reassurances in the form of structured conditions. 
On Tuesday, 17th April 2018 at 3.20pm, I visited the Sports Lounge and spoke with the 
DPS, Mr Zefi after he was called by the member of bar staff & arrived 20 minutes later.  
Mr Zefi candidly declared that the long-term intention was to remove the snooker and 
pool tables and become an over 21’s wine bar. His experience of the current set up 
was that the business goes quiet by 1am and the plan was to develop the outside flat 
roof by reinforcing it with steel RSJs. It was pointed out that this would raise the floor 
level and lower the safety wall height. I suggested that these proposals, whilst all well 
and good, should be openly and transparently discussed at a further site meeting with 
the applicant, his agent and invited responsible authorities to better understand the 
business plan and set about making the arrangements. On Thursday, 26th April at 12 
noon, I attended the Sports Lounge and met with Mr Melin, Mr Zefi & Mr David Dadds. 
Also invited and present was Environmental Health & Safety Manager, Mr Tony 
Sprackling, Police Licensing Officer, Mr Peter Jones and Fire Safety Officer, Mr Garry 
Owles. Environmental Health Officers, Mr David Carter and Mr Stephen Blake were 
unavailable to attend. After the introductions were made, I began to address the 
meeting with an explanation as to why I had called it and why I had invited the other 
responsible authorities who were all experts in their field. We were then joined by 
Principal Conservation & Urban Design Planning Development Officer, Ms Paulette 
McAllister, also at my request. She apologised for arriving late but Mr Dadds took 
immediate exception to her being present. He ranted that she wasn’t invited and 
demanded that she leave. Mr Dadds then instructed Mr Melin, as the owner, to ask Ms 
McAllister to leave the premises. I explained that I wanted a planning officer’s opinion 
on the outside smoking area and what better opportunity than to consult with an expert 
to satisfy my concerns over public safety. Mr Dadds refused to relent stating that 
planning permission was different legislation and that he would deal with it separately. 
A dignified Ms McAllister left the premises to allow the meeting to continue and Mr 
Dadds conceded that the inclusion of a DJ booth on the premises plan was the first 
phase in converting the premises into a late-night bar. I noted that there was no 
provision for the playing of live or recorded music in the application and, despite 
challenging that, and then realising that music hadn’t been included in the application, 
he stated’ “We can play music through the TVs as you are well aware.” I suggested 

Page 62



 

that an open and transparent application that properly addresses the operating 
schedule, the licensable activities required, an accurate floor plan and the correct 
address of the premises may stand a far better chance of receiving support. The 
amended application was submitted and valid representations were received from the 
Environmental Health Officer, Mr Stephen Blake, myself on behalf of the Licensing 
Authority and one other interested party. A Licensing Sub-Committee hearing was 
convened, and the application determined, on 5th July 2018. I have attached the 
applicant’s response, through his agent, to the enquiries made by both officers during 
the consultation period and I have attached a copy of these communications at 
Appendix 1. 
 
In each response the applicant expresses a wish to promote the licensing objectives 
and reiterates to the police service and environmental health officer that ‘our client will 
work with you to promote the licensing objectives.’ Indeed, at the hearing, the 
applicant’s agent addressed the Committee in support of the application and in 
response to the concerns outlined by the Responsible Authorities’ representatives and 
made a number of salient points including “it was the wish of the applicant to promote 
the licensing objectives” and was influential in the decision-making process. A copy of 
the published decision notice is attached at Appendix 2. 
 
I also attach a copy a communication from Mr Melin’s agent, dated 22nd February 
2019, of the additional voluntary steps that his client intended to take to in order to 
reassure this office when applying for a minor variation to its existing premises licence 
This communication is attached at Appendix 3. 
 
On 27th March 2019, AA Trading Ltd. applied to vary the DPS and nominated Mr Jamie 
Steeves. On 27th March 2019, Essex Police made representation against this variation 
on the grounds of prevention of crime and disorder. AA Trading Ltd did not withdraw 
their application and a Licensing Sub-Committee hearing was convened for 1st May 
2019 to determine the matter. During this period, I was repeatedly frustrated by the 
lack of availability of Mr Melin and his agent and their inability to return calls in an effort 
to resolve this matter.  
 
On Friday, 5th April 2019 at 1.50pm I visited the premises in the hope that I may get an 
update regarding the DPS situation. There were no members of staff on premises just 
some workmen working on the refurbishment. I spoke to a man working on the fire exit 
door to the rear flat roof, who also claimed to be a relative of Mr Melin, and asked his 
opinion of the proposals for the roof terrace. He grinned and looked at the roof 
membrane covering and scoffed, “Are you joking? No way will this take a crowd. You 
only need to get a couple of Essex girls in their stiletto heels to step on this and they 
will go right through the felt.” A returned to the premises later that evening at around 
midnight and met with Mr Melin. I asked to speak with the DPS, Mr Steeves, and Mr 
Melin claimed that Mr Steeves was upstairs in his flat but was feeling unwell and so 
could not be seen. Mr Melin did however confirm that he was now replacing the DPS.  
 
The hearing was finally cancelled when the police withdrew their representation when 
Miss Olivia Francis was nominated as, and became, the DPS between 12th April 2019 
and 5th November 2019. During that period, I only ever saw Miss Francis at the 
premises on one occasion. I did make my observations known to Mr Melin and he 
advised me that it was difficult for her to always be there as she had another job.  

Page 63



 

 
On the evening of Friday, 21st June 2019 I was working with Police Licensing Officer, 
Mrs Jackie Cooper, and SIA Investigations Officer for Kent & Essex, Mr Jason Dean, 
conducting door security checks at a number of licensed premises in Brentwood High 
Street. At 8.40pm we visited BLOC 40. Trojan Security’s head door had not yet arrived 
at the premises and nor had the DPS, Miss Francis. We arranged with Mr Melin to 
return to the venue later and did so at 11pm. During his investigation, Mr Dean 
reported that six doormen were signed on in the register but only five of them had front 
line SIA badges. In Mr Dean’s opinion, the ‘steward’ stationed at the rear fire escape 
was engaged in a manned guarding activity and, therefore, providing a physical 
presence that required them to be SIA badged. Mr Dean dealt with this discrepancy by 
means of an advisory email notification on 27th June 2019. A copy of this notice is 
attached at Appendix 4. 
 
On Monday, 5th August 2019 at 9.35am I spoke with Mrs Cooper who advised me that 
the police had been called to a stabbing that had occurred in or outside BLOC 40 on 
Saturday, 3rd August. In this instance, the victim was apparently extremely anti-police 
and did not wish to substantiate any allegation. Therefore, no further action was taken. 
In any case, Mrs Cooper and I made an appointment to meet with Mr Melin and 
discuss the incident at BLOC 40 on Wednesday, 7th August at 9.30am with a specific 
request for the DPS, Miss Francis, to be present. I arrived at the appointment early and 
spoke with the manager at Pandora, the jewellers shop underneath BLOC 40. The 
staff were furious to arrive at the shop on the Monday morning with blood splattered 
and smeared all over their front display window that had not been cleared away. I was 
also shown the rear yard which was strewn with empty bottles & waste from BLOC 40. 
Our meeting with Mr Melin began at 9.30am where he was represented by his agent, 
Mr David Dadds, who did most of the talking. The DPS, Miss Francis was not present. 
There had clearly been difficulties arising at the premises on the night of the alleged 
incident because we were told that the DJ promoter had been dropped and the club 
would no longer be taking on outside promoters. It was proposed that a risk 
assessment be completed and sent to the police if any similar events were to be 
booked in future and Mr Dadds offered up his client’s undertaking to use ID Scan as a 
means of right of entry so long as it wasn’t made a condition of the premises licence. 
So enthusiastic of the positive impact that ID Scan can make to aid the prevention of 
crime and disorder, Mr Dadds offered to and, indeed, presented the benefits of its use 
to all the high street licensees at the next meeting of Pubwatch.   
 
On Friday, 25th October 2019 at 10.35pm I conducted a courtesy site visit to BLOC 40. 
Mr Melin was present but the DPS, Miss Francis, was not. A woman who did appear to 
be present during most of my visits around this time was Ms Leonora ‘Lee’ Dunne, a 
personal licence holder with an apparent wealth of management experience. Mr Melin 
advised me that he was going to replace Miss Francis and, between 5th November 
2019 and 20th January 2020, Ms Dunne was nominated by AA Trading Ltd, and 
consented to be the DPS. In her first week as DPS, Ms Dunne contacted me five times 
enquiring about the use of TENs and the possibility of extending the licence to 4am. 
 
On Thursday, 2nd January 2020 at 2.25pm I received a call from Ms Dunne advising 
me that she had left BLOC 40 and would be withdrawing her consent to be the DPS. 
She stated that she could not work with Mr Melin or his sisters and that she needed to 
protect her personal licence. She would not elaborate on matters but stated that she 

Page 64



 

was going on holiday to Lanzarote until 16th January but had agreed to remain as the 
consenting DPS during that period under the strict proviso that the premises close its 
bar at 2am as it was licensed to do. After this call I contacted Essex Police Licensing 
Officer, Mrs Jackie Cooper, and advised her of my conversation with Ms Dunne.  
 
On Monday, 20th January 2020 (following an email sent by her on Sunday 19th January 
2020 at 6.48pm requesting that I contact her) I called Ms Dunne at 10.45am who told 
me that she had left her job at BLOC 40 and was now working at Stockbrook Manor 
but, on Saturday 18th January 2020, she had been called back because the director 
and head doorman of Trojan Security (UK) Ltd, Ivan Mariacher, and his security team 
currently employed at BLOC 40 had walked out on their job over a pay dispute and 
had left the premises vulnerable. By the time Ms Dunne arrived at BLOC 40 she stated 
that Mr Melin had replaced the door team within twenty minutes. However, she was 
concerned that there would be retribution to follow from the aggrieved Trojan Security 
team who she also claimed were not ‘squeaky clean’.    
 
At 11.02am, Ms Dunne notified this office by email that she wished to withdraw her 
consent to be the DPS at BLOC 40 with immediate effect and requested confirmation 
that her withdrawal had been accepted. I responded by asking if she had notified the 
management at BLOC 40 of her decision and she replied in an email at 12.40pm ‘Yes I 
have notified Ahmet. He has replied as well.’ A copy of this email and response is 
attached at Appendix 5. 
 
At 11.05am I contacted Essex Police Licensing Officer, Mrs Jackie Cooper, who 
confirmed that two calls were made to the police on the weekend of 18th/19th January 
2020 in relation to BLOC 40. On 18th January at 2220hrs Trojan Security contacted the 
police to tell them that there were no doormen working at BLOC 40. The police 
subsequently arrived at the premises at 2340hrs at which time four door staff were 
working. On 19th January at 0330hrs police were called to an assault where allegedly 
drinks had been thrown and a male had been punched. No further action was taken.   
Having confirmed with both Mr Melin and the police that BLOC 40 no longer had a 
consenting DPS on 21st, on 22nd January 2020 at 4.08pm I sent Mr Melin an advisory 
notification regarding the need for a consenting DPS to be nominated in order to 
satisfy the licensable activity of the sale of alcohol on the premises licence. I also 
expressed a wish that both I and the Police Licensing Officer wished to meet with the 
new DPS elect before the weekend. At 4.10pm Mr Melin contacted me to say that he 
had a new DPS nominated but that he had been rushed to hospital with a leg injury 
and was on a drip. We arranged to meet on the premises at 2pm the next day with the 
intention of being introduced to the new DPS and the new door team management. 
 
On Thursday, 23rd January 2020 at 11.10am I received a call from Mr Melin confirming 
our 2pm meeting with him and the new door team but claimed that the new DPS, was 
still hospitalised and unavailable. At 12.35pm I received a further call from Mr Melin 
who handed over to Mr David Dadds, representing him, who then suggested that the 
meeting be re-scheduled for the following week. I informed him that this was totally 
unacceptable based on the events of the previous weekend with the door team walking 
out and a DPS being absent and that both the police and I were not prepared to risk or 
support the premises operating another weekend without a credible manager and 
security team in place. Mr Dadds stated that he was happy for his client to meet with 
us so long as our meeting dealt with nothing else. I stated that we would expect to be 

Page 65



 

seeing the door supervisors register and incident log to be checked in accordance with 
the premises licence conditions. Mr Dadds stated that there was no incident with the 
doormen and that it was merely a civil dispute. As regards to doormen signing on in 
the register, he stated that the police had apparently checked all their SIA credentials 
at the time of attending. Suffice to say, the register was not available for inspection 
when we visited. At 1.40pm, Mrs Cooper and I attended BLOC 40 and met with Mr 
Melin and Mr Moneer Gul, the director/head doorman of the newly appointed LPS 
Security. The DPS elect, Mr Daniel Capitanchik was unavailable. During the meeting 
Mr Melin, who was quite capable and competent of operating the CCTV system, 
showed us CCTV footage of an incident that occurred the previous weekend on 19th 
January 2020 at 1.29am when a female (who later complained to the police alleging 
assault) was ejected for throwing a glass of drink at another female on the dance floor. 
However, this ejection had not been recorded in the incident log (Annex 2 condition 4). 
It was also noted that there were no dispersal request notices displayed anywhere on 
the premises (Annex 2 condition 16). These discrepancies were dealt with by way of a 
verbal warning. 
 
Following our meeting and as agreed, on 24th January 2020, Mr Gul sent the police 
copies of the LPS Security protocols and policies together with assurances that body 
cam footage from his door team will be readily accessible if required. A copy of this 
email and attached policies is attached at Appendix 6.    
 
Since the outbreak of the coronavirus pandemic last year, the enforced closure of 
many businesses, including the hospitality industry, has resulted in my licensing 
enforcement role being expanded to include being authorised by the local authority to 
assist with enquiries relating to coronavirus guidance and investigate alleged breaches 
of the regulations. The majority of enquiries received were not frivolous or vexatious by 
nature but merely calls made by a public understandably fearful of the unknown. I 
received a number of calls enquiring about BLOC 40 ranging from large numbers 
gathering in and around the premises to social media advertising suggesting they were 
continuing to operate in defiance of the government regulations.     
 
On Saturday, 15th August 2020 at 11.30pm a call was received stating that there was a 
large queue outside BLOC 40 waiting to get in and then again on Sunday, 16th August 
at 6.30pm around 40 people were queueing to get in. SR 20/001517/COVID refers.  
The licensing office received a number of complaints relating to large crowd gatherings 
and lack of social distancing in the High Street outside Bloc 40 that weekend. A time-
line suggested that a large number of people left a TEN event in Warley on Sunday 
16th August at 10pm and arrived on mass at BLOC 40 at 10.30pm. Police were called 
to deal with the large gatherings but no further action appears to have been taken.  
 
Further complaints included: 
“An illegal rave hosted by a group of men who are club promoters called 'rocboysuk' 
occurred on Sunday with no social distancing or race coverings, there were 100, s of 
ppl who attended And it was very scary. It was clearly overcrowded & irresponsible 
especially when we as a country are going through a major pandemic. I found their 
Instagram And there are videos of the illegal rave which occurred clearly showing ppl 
with no face coverings or social distancing at all.” 16.08.2020 SR 20/001567/COVID 
 

Page 66



 

“reported via website - are Brentwood Council going to address the fact that Nightclub 
Bloc 40 are holding mass events when they are not even supposed to be open_ I can’t 
have my parents and my children in my house at the same time and yet these people 
can hold an indoor event for 100/150 people and everyone thinks it’s funny. You’ve 
only got to go on their website to see what else they're planning. Can someone please 
contact her to discuss.” 18.08.2020 SR 20/001541/COVID refers. 
 
“Everytime this night club is open it breaches social distancing rules, not sticking to 
Covid rules they say people must where masks where possible and that they must not 
get up and dance, but sit at their tables and that drinks will be bought to them. People 
are not staying in bubbles they come with mixing with others, DJs have been booked 
when in other venues no DJs allowed because if the covid19, sold. Out events 
Saturday was sold and so was Sunday same with this Saturday 5th September it is 
sold out it was horrendous weekend last gone everyone was up dancing the DJs were 
encouraging people to get up and dance and making the room get hyped up and 
dancing no social distancing it is the same DJs every Saturday n Sunday. People were 
not staying who there came with or staying at the tables they were dancing. No masks 
worn by any customers at all, no temperature checks either being done. Drinks were 
not being bought to the table most people were going up to the bar. Out of all venues I 
been to so far this is far the worst one! In my mind if they can’t follow rules should not 
be open or maybe they can change it no DJs allowed starting from this weekend just 
music in the background and they are not allowed to move around have to stay sat at 
the table with who they come with! If other clubs that are open and bars are following 
the rules with no live DJ just music and no dancing allowed this venue should go it was 
clearly at least 500 people in this small venue no social distance at all.” 29.08.2020  
SR 20/001638/COVID refers. 
 
As a result of this complaint, a call was made to Mr Melin on Tuesday, 1st September 
2020 at 3.30pm & a site visit appointment was booked to inspect his risk assessment 
and premises layout plans. On Thursday, 3rd September 2020 at 1.45pm, Mr Paul 
Adams and I met with Mr Melin at BLOC 40 to relay our concerns. He showed us the 
dance floor area which currently had tables and chairs on it although they were not 
fixtures. He claimed that he was abiding by COVID guidance and, uncomfortably, 
assured that there was no dancing and vertical drinking taking place. A request to view 
his CCTV coverage to allay these concerns was made (Annex 2 conditions 1 & 2). Mr 
Melin claimed that the system was currently inactive and was being fixed later that day. 
A written request to produce CCTV coverage of inside the premises between 2230hrs 
and midnight on 29th August 2020 and 30th August 2020 was made on Friday, 4th 
September 2020 at 4.34pm and, following an enquiry call as to the nature of the 
request from Ms Clare Eames, his agent at that time, at 5pm the following response 
was provided by Mr Melin at 5.16pm: 
“Hello David 
Thanks for your time yesterday. I can confirm that the cameras are working again. With 

regards to the request of the cctv footage can you confirm what camera you would like 

to see, I’ve got so many there will be hours and hours of footage. I am able to get snap 

shots of the cameras to show you this might be easier please let me know and i will 

arrange this for you. Many thanks Ahmet.” A copy of this written request & Mr Melin’s 

response is attached at Appendix 7. 

 

Page 67



 

On Friday, 5th September 2020 at 11.15pm, Mr Paul Adams and I, together with BBC 
Enforcement Officer, Miss Issy Hatton, conducted a site visit to BLOC 40. Upon arrival 
we introduced ourselves and asked the door staff to call the manager. I then saw a 
female member of staff bolt up the stairs repeating the word ‘Shit!’. We were greeted 
by Mr Melin and I went into the manager’s office with him whilst Mr Adams and Miss 
Hatton (who was wearing BWV) conducted a sweep of the premises & inspected the 
door supervisor register. Mr Adams then returned to the manager’s office. There was 
no obvious use of the dancefloor & we viewed the CCTV monitor covering one of the 
‘private’ booths which showed 8 women all of similar age seated (4 each side of a 
table) and 2 women who were moving/dancing into and crammed into the same area. 
Mr Melin explained that he understood it to be that his ‘private’ booths, when hired, 
were not ‘public’ areas and, therefore, may allow for dancing by those hiring it within 
that space. Mr Adams & I challenged that and pointed out that the music should not be 
at a sufficient level for there to be a need for dancing. All parties should be seated.    
Mr Melin stated that temperature checks were conducted on all persons upon entry 
and the name of the party member booking the table is also taken. Before leaving, I 
repeated my request of 4th September 2020 to Mr Melin for a copy of the CCTV 
recordings of 29th/30th August. Copies of all written requests for CCTV recordings of 
29th/30th August 2020 and any responses are attached at Appendix 7. 
 
On Tuesday, 9th September 2020 at 1.22pm I sent a second email to Mr Melin asking 
to see the recorded CCTV footage as requested on 4th September 2020. 
 
On Thursday, 11th September 2020 at 1.41hrs I received the following email from Mr 
David Dadds:  
“We are instructed on behalf of the premises. Can we ask please on what basis the 

CCTV is being requested? Notwithstanding there is a condition on the licence, under 

GDPR we require on what basis is the CCTV being sought. Can you please clarify 

which licensing offence if any you are investing as the licensing authority? Thank you 

for confirming you undertook an inspection/unannounced visit (raid) last weekend and 

you were satisfied that the premises was operating lawfully and there was no 

undermining of the licensing objectives and no breach of conditions, i.e. no relevant 

licensing offences. If there are any concerns that you have regarding the operations, 

as I indicated in our conversation, please do feel free to raise them with me.  We are 

working with the premises in advising them how they fulfil their obligations and 

interpret other guidance in relation to their operations, as you will appreciate fall 

outside the Licensing Act 2003. We look forward to hearing from you.” A copy of this 

response is also attached at Appendix 7. 

On Monday, 14th September 2020 at 10.37am the following complaint was received: 
“I dont know if your aware, but bloc 40 was in full swing at 0100hrs this morning, there 
were a large amount of cars all blocking the pavements around bloc 40. The door was 
closed but people were knocking on the door & going in.” SR 20/001713/COVID refers. 
 

A further complaint was received on 14th September 2020 at 4.57pm: “Witnessed 50 

people or more queuing for Bloc 40 not socially distancing” SR 20/001727/COVID refs. 

 

Page 68



 

On Monday, 14th September 2020 at 1.51pm I emailed the following response to Mr 

Dadds’ email enquiry on 11th September 2020 and made a fourth written request for a 

copy of the CCTV recordings of 29th/30th August:  

“On 3rd September, the Licensing Manager, Mr Paul Adams and I met with Mr Melin at 

Bloc 40 to advise of concerns being reported to us by members of the public and those 

in the licensing trade, suggesting that there is a recurring failure to comply with, or 

respect, the social distancing guidance during this current pandemic by the 

management of the premises. These claims appeared to be supported by Bloc 40s 

own social media advertising and indicating that they are operating as a nightclub and, 

therefore, outside of The Health Protection (Coronavirus Restrictions) (England) 

Regulations 2020. The reason for the request is to ensure compliance with the 

licensing objectives, and in this instance the crime and disorder objective. The simplest 

way to dispel these claims, and so allay our concerns, and still remains, is to view the 

CCTV coverage in accordance with Annex 2 condition 1 of the premises licence: 

The request for the footage is justified and proportionate and we still expect you to 

comply. 

For the record, I did confirm with you that a licensing visit was made to Bloc 40 on 5th 

September. This visit was not a “raid” and I did not confirm, nor was I in a position to 

state, that there was no undermining of the licensing objectives and no breach of 

conditions, i.e. no relevant licensing offences.” 

 

On Thursday, 18th September 2020 at 4.30pm, the Licensing Manager, Mr Paul Adams 

copied me in on an email sent to Mr Melin headed Bloc 40 – Coronavirus Regulation 

and Guidance and closed it with the following guidance: 

“I would encourage you to familiarise yourself with all the requirements of the 
regulations and ensure that you are compliant with them before you commence trading 
to ensure that to do all you can to protect public health and to not commit any offences 
under the legislation. We have concerns that you have been operating outside of the 
regulations and have not been fully complaint with the guidance, which is supported by 
our observations, and the complaints and comments we have received. We are 
working with colleagues at Essex County Council’s Public Health Team and are 
discussing the use of the Director of Public Health powers to close premises or give 
other directions to premises that pose a risk to the Public Health around Covid, and 
only hope that you will ensure that your premises is fully compliant and does not cause 
any unnecessary risks. Whilst it is your responsibility to ensure compliance, if we can 
assist with the clarification of any of the guidance or regulations then please do not 
hesitate to contact us.” I have attached a copy of this communication at Appendix 8. 
 
On Sunday, 20th September 2020 at 1.15am I conducted a social compliance visit to 
BLOC 40 together with Mr Paul Adams and members of the Thurrock licensing team in 
response to continued complaints being received and to ascertain if Mr Melin had 
prepared a copy of the CCTV recordings for this office following three previous written 
requests. The venue was not busy and there was no dancing taking place. There were 
two young women on the outside roof terrace embroiled in an embrace and kissing 
being watched by a member of the security team. This did not appear to comply with 
social distancing guidelines. Mr Melin was initially very cooperative but became very 
excitable and almost aggressive in his office at the conclusion of our visit and was not 

Page 69



 

prepared to listen to Mr Adams’ advice. Mr Melin made reference to an advisory 
guidance email sent to him on 18th September 2020 claiming that it was threatening 
and even accused Mr Adams of being racist. He insisted that he had done nothing 
wrong and was being singled out following a ‘raid’. I informed him that no ‘raid’ had 
ever taken place and that entry to his venue has always been upon request and with 
consent given. He said, “I’ve done everything you’ve asked”. I replied, “You haven’t 
provided the CCTV footage I requested over 2 weeks ago.” I asked if he had 
completed the CCTV recording for collection as requested three times and he stated 
that the matter was in the hands of his agent Mr Dadds and added “a COVID enquiry is 
not a licensing matter to require CCTV.” The CCTV recording was still not forthcoming. 
Mr Adams suggested a further meeting with the Health &Safety Officer by appointment 
next week to discuss acceptable social distancing measures between seating booths. 
Mr Melin agreed to this but stated that he will no longer conduct any business with the 
local authority without his agent being present. With Mr Melin still being very excitable 
and not listening to reason, Mr Adams elected to end the meeting in the absence of 
any constructive interaction being possible. 
 
On Wednesday, 23rd September 2020 at 3pm I called Melin to arrange a site visit with 
Principal Environmental Health Officer, Ms Elaine Higgins, to review his risk 
assessment & seating plans in accordance with Mr Adams’ request on 20th September. 
I reiterated the need to view the CCTV footage as previously requested that would 
hopefully vindicate him and he replied, “I never denied that dancing took place.” He 
asked that his agent be present for the inspection and at 4.45pm Mr Dadds called to 
confirm his availability for the meeting planned for the following day, Thursday, 24th 
September 2020. He first stated that late afternoon would best suit him or very first 
thing at 8am. I explained that Ms Higgins had childcare responsibilities but that we 
would both accommodate his 8am request and he confirmed the time with me. 
 
On Thursday, 24th September 2020 at 8am, Ms Higgins and I attended BLOC 40 as 
arranged in a phone call with Mr Dadds barely 15 hours earlier and to a time to suit his 
specific request. At 08.24am after a no show I phoned Mr Dadds who was at his office 
and he stated that he wasn’t coming because the appointment hadn’t been confirmed 
by email. The appointment was re-scheduled for 1.15pm and Ms Higgins and I met 
with Mr Melin and Mr Dadds at BLOC 40. The purpose of the site visit was to review 
Mr Melin’s risk assessment and to ensure social distancing compliance with seating 
arrangements. Before we started, Mr Dadds challenged our COVID authority status 
and that of Mr Adams who had requested the inspection. He then refused to allow Ms 
Higgins to take any photographs of the areas that had been marked with hazard tape 
to enable social distancing compliance. Mr Dadds claimed that he did not know why or 
where these pictures would be viewed and instead asked Ms Higgins to point to areas 
she wanted photographed. Mr Dadds then took the pictures and stated that he would 
send them to her upon written request. Mr Dadds also confirmed that he was now the 
agent representing Melin in the application for a new licence seeking extended hours 
of trading. I pointed out that the premises plan for both this application and the current 
licence were actually flawed as it does not show the fixed seating features and, before 
I needed to point anything further out, Mr Dadds stated that he would be submitting a 
further application for a minor variation to address the premises plan issue. Mr Dadds 
stated that, in the current pandemic climate and to enable him the opportunity to 
mediate with those making representation against the current application, he would be 
seeking a further adjournment until the new year. We discussed the introduction of a 

Page 70



 

lobby door area from the fire escape onto the ‘roof terrace’ area to reduce noise 
escape and I repeated the need for the applicant to produce written confirmation by an 
approved source that the roof area was safe to support the activities proposed to take 
place on it. These assurances have never been forthcoming in writing and Mr Dadds 
stated that this would be completed for the right services. I finished the meeting off by 
asking if he was going to respond to my repeated written requests for the CCTV 
recording to which he replied, “I will write to you.” I asked, “So you’re not going to tell 
me if you are going to comply to my request?” He repeated, “I will write to you” and 
abruptly ended the meeting.   
 
Ms Higgins has subsequently made me aware that after, two separate written requests 
to Mr Dadds, for copies of the images taken during our visit, dated 25th September 
2020 and 6th October 2020, she had yet to receive any response back from Mr Dadds. 
A copy of these two requests is attached at Appendix 9.   
 
On Friday 16th October 2020 at 1.25pm, I had occasion to speak with Mr Melin's agent, 
Mr David Dadds, on another matter but when the BLOC 40 topic was raised I advised 
him that I'd received information from Principal Environmental Health Officer, Ms 
Elaine Higgins, that Mr Melin had advised her that he was closing for a while during the 
2200hrs curfew and yet I was still receiving complaints about the venue trading with 
total disregard to the coronavirus guidance and regulations. Mr Dadds stated that this 
could not be the case as his client was indeed closed but he assured that he would 
chase the matter up.  
 
On Saturday, 17th October 2020 at 530pm a further complaint was received stating: 
“Yesterday evening at approx 5:30pm four young girls who were dressed provocatively 
were seen "dancing and hollering" down the high street, before entering Bloc40. As 
they approached a bouncer opened the door from inside the venue, let them in, then 
swiftly shut the door behind them. The Instagram page of Bloc40 says it is closed until 
further notice because of COVID-19. Whilst I do not know for certain, they very much 
didn’t look like they lived together.” SR 20/001973/COVID refers. 
 
Later on Saturday, 17th October 2020 at about 8.50pm, I was engaged in COVID 
enforcement duty with Mr Paul Adams and Ms Maria Moses in the High Street. I 
noticed that the light to the first-floor roof terrace at Bloc 40 was on and then saw a 
group of about five people, a/24yrs, come out of the front door. As we approached the 
front door it was closed and no door staff present. A light could be seen from the gap 
under the front door. The door then opened (inwards, and not as recommended by the 
fire service) and I recognised the doorman opening it to be the former head doorman - 
Ivan from Trojan Security. From a meeting I had with the police licensing officer, Mrs 
Jackie Cooper, and Mr Melin over door supervision concerns on 23rd January 2020 
(when Trojan Security walked out during the evening leaving the club without security) 
we were subsequently assured by Mr Melin that a new door team LPS Security was 
being hired. With this a stream of party goers began piling down the stairs and exiting 
out of the premises. There was absolutely no social distancing and nobody was 
wearing masks or personal protection equipment (PPE). I saw on young female, 
a/20yrs, being carried down the stairs by two other girls of a similar age and a 
concerned third female. She was extremely the worse for wear, incoherent an 
appeared to have vomited down her front. She was also carrying a large, opened 
bottle of vodka. Over the next ten minutes I estimate that over 80-100 revellers of a 

Page 71



 

similar age exited. All were very boisterous and loud and continued to congregate in 
groups outside and, again, with no social distancing or adherence to coronavirus 
guidance. There was no door supervision outside on the street and Ivan wasn’t even 
going to come outside from his door position inside the entrance. I asked if the 
manager was around and he said that he would fetch Ahmet. The crowd gathering 
outside was getting louder and most were totally dismissive of any other members of 
the public on the street. One male, a/22yrs, in particular who appeared to be under the 
influence of drink or drugs approached us and continued to repeat ‘you’re scum’ and 
‘covid police scum’. The snarling male continued to get in my face & kept repeating 
himself totally disrespecting my personal space. The level of his inebriation and disdain 
in his shouting was causing him to spit in my face. He continued to attempt to provoke 
a reaction and began pointing his mobile phone at point blank range in Paul Adams’ 
face. I called to the BBC CCTV office to ensure cameras were directed at the venue & 
made a request for assistance from the police. The male continued to be aggressive 
and was now trying to incite the gathering crowd to join in. There was still no sign of Mr 
Melin or any of his security and we made the decision to withdraw for personal safety 
reasons. The male and a couple of others initially began to follow us and I made a 
second call to the CCTV controller for police assistance. We sought respite from a safe 
distance outside the Slug and Lettuce but could still see and hear spread groups 
hanging around outside BLOC 40 and near the church ruins and milling around the 
street. I noted that a couple of the girls were even walking away with suitcases on 
wheels. As the police arrived and we were walking back towards BLOC 40 we were 
flagged down by two separate taxi drivers who were startled at the riotous behaviour of 
those leaving BLOC 40. As we approached with police, I saw Mr Melin on the front 
door with a doorman. He was smiling and shouted ‘I heard that you wanted to see me 
and then ran away. I’ve been waiting for you to turn up all afternoon.’ The were still 
large numbers of party goers congregated outside the venue with no social distancing 
taking place, no staff supervision and still highly boisterous and I still sensed an 
atmosphere that was not comfortable at the front door. I asked Mr Melin what was 
going on at which point he became highly excitable and aggressive and accused me of 
disrespecting him. He became louder and more verbally aggressive at this point and 
was not addressing the immediate concerns in hand. It is my opinion that Mr Melin’s 
erratic and overreacting rant was deliberately designed to incite an already excitable 
group of exiting patrons who were still in close proximity. This ploy was clearly a tactic 
to defer from the issue at hand as it was on a previous enforcement visit to the 
premises on 20th September 2020 at 1.15am where he accused Mr Adams of being a 
racist. Mr Melin refused to allow me entry but invited Mr Adams and Ms Moses into the 
premises together with a police officer. In order to diffuse a deteriorating situation, I 
stepped back and remained outside. In my view what I had witnessed on persons 
leaving was an appalling and quite shocking disregard to the coronavirus guidance and 
regulations at the height of a pandemic, with no efforts by the staff or management to 
control social distancing or safety compliance.  
 
On Friday, 23rd October 2020 at 8.03pm, Mr Melin was sent the following warning letter 
from the Director of Legal & Assurance Monitoring Officer for Corporate and Customer 
Services at Essex County Council, Mr Paul Turner: 
“I am writing on behalf of the Director of Public Health for Essex County Council. 
Brentwood Borough Council have informed us of a catalogue of breaches of the 
coronavirus restrictions. I am aware that Brentwood Borough Council have spent a 
great deal of time &effort explaining what to do, which has clearly fallen upon deaf ears 

Page 72



 

On behalf of Essex County Council I am writing to say that we are keeping your 
premises under review and should there be any evidence that you are allowing the 
public into your premises in breach of the regulations then it is likely that the County 
Council will issue a direction requiring your premises to close to the public. 
It has the power to do this under the Health Protection (Coronavirus) (No 3) (England) 
Regulations 2020.” A copy of this communication is attached at Appendix 10. 
 
On Thursday, 29th October 2020 at 4.39pm, Licensing Manager, Mr Adams, sent a 
follow up communication to Mr Melin in response to Mr Turner’s memo. A copy of this 
communication is attached at Appendix 11. 
 
On Friday, 18th December 2020 at 1.11pm, following information received from the 
police, I wrote to Mr Melin advising him that we had seen social media advertising 
suggesting that an event was taking place at BLOC 40 on Boxing Day that would 
breach current coronavirus regulations and I attached the online link to the latest 
information and guidance on the government’s coronavirus website to assist him with 
reference. Mr Melin responded by email within six minutes stating that he was fully 
aware of Tier 3 High Alert and that he had not advertised any event for Boxing Day or 
any other date in December/January. At 1.17pm, Mr Adams, clarified the position by 
providing Mr Melin with a screen shot of the ‘Boxing Day Special @ Bloc 40 
Brentwood’ that was doing the rounds on social media & had been brought to our 
attention by Essex Police. A copy of this communication is attached at Appendix 12. 
 
Over the May bank holiday weekend, I was made aware of a serious assault that had 
occurred at BLOC 40 on 29th May 2021 and I subsequently attended a Licensing Sub-
Committee hearing on Friday, 4th June 2021 in response to an application submitted by 
the Chief of Essex Police for a summary review of BLOC 40’s premises licence. Prior 
to the hearing commencing I was able to view a recording of limited CCTV coverage of 
the two stabbing incidents, one taking place on the roof in the smoking area and the 
second taking place on the footway outside the front of the premises. The limited 
recording provided appeared to quite deliberate omit any coverage of the bar area, DJ 
booth and inside floor space. Once again, there appeared to be serious safety issue 
concerns relating to the use of the outside roof terrace smoking area. There appeared 
to be people drinking outside on the terrace after 11pm. This may or may not have 
been alcohol (Annex 3 condition 3) but the area did not appear to be suitably 
supervised by staff particularly when a fight breaks out. The number of persons spilling 
out in the ensuing melee may or may not exceeded the maximum of 30 at any given 
time (Annex 3 condition 2) but it appeared very close. What does appear clear is that 
the pedestrian control barriers at the rear by the fire escape were not fixed (and were 
clipped during the disorder) and did not comply with “the outside licensed area shall 
have a screen installed along the wall, a minimum height of 2 meters (or height 
specified by building control) to prevent objects falling off and/or being thrown” (Annex 
2 condition 10). I also viewed an aggressive male confront a group at the top of the 
stairs inside the club holding a bottle upside down by the neck. He was ushered away 
by a male who appeared to be a door supervisor, dressed in dark clothing but not 
wearing a high visibility jacket or vest and apparently not displaying his SIA badge. No 
attempt was made to take the bottle off the male. It appeared that there may also be 
further breaches of the licence “All staff engaged outside the premises shall wear high 
visibility jackets or vests” (Annex 2 condition 8) and “The premises is only to serve 
drinks in polycarbonate, plastic or other safety glass only.” (Annex 2 condition 26).  

Page 73



 

 
Therefore, in order to be able to fully investigate alleged offences under the Licensing 
Act 2003, which would include non-compliance with licence conditions as well as 
offences under the various coronavirus regulations, on Tuesday, 8th June 2021 at 
5.06pm I sent an email to Mr Melin making a lawful request to supply fully recording of 
all CCTV footage, including any audio files for the period starting at 11.30pm on the 
28th May 2021, and ending at 2.00am on the 29th May 2021 as required in Annex 2 
condition 2 of the premises licence; 
“The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system covering the 
internal and external of the premises which is of evidential quality. It will also cover all 
entry and exit points enabling full frontal identification of every person entering in any 
light condition. The CCTV system shall continually record whilst the premises is open 
to the public and during all times when customers remain on the premises. All 
recordings will be kept in an unedited format for a period of not less the 31 days with 
correct time and date stamping. Recording shall be made available immediately upon 
lawful request of Essex Police or other Responsible Authority. Download or export of 
CCTV should be in the native file format with the native player.” 
 
The request also made reference to the location and direction of CCTV coverage and 
plan (Annex 2 condition 3), the maintaining of an incident log (Annex 2 condition 4), the 
bound door supervisors register (Annex 2 condition 6), staff training and training 
records (Annex 2 conditions 12 & 13) and the dispersal policy (Annex 2 condition 14). 
A copy of the communication in full, including a request to meet with the DPS, Daniel 
Capitanchik, within 72hrs is attached at Appendix 13. 
 
On Friday, 11th June 2021 at 12.41pm I received acknowledgement when Ms Bailey of 
Dadds LLP responded with the solitary sentence, ‘We are currently taking instructions 
on your email of 8th June to Mr Ahmet Melin and will revert to you shortly.’ Finally, on 
Wednesday, 16th June 2021 at 4.29pm I received a response from Dadds LLP which, 
instead of assisting with an ongoing enquiry and providing the information that may 
vindicate his client against the claims being made, he chose to suggest that my 
request to view CCTV coverage was an unlawful one. The email, the full response and 
supporting documents, together with my response and repeated lawful request dated 
17th June 2021 are also attached at Appendix 13. 
 
There has been no response to my request to meet on site with the DPS, Mr 
Daniel Capitanchik, to take place within 72hrs. 
 
On Tuesday, 8th June 2021, following a telephone conversation at his request and 
fearful that he would be made a scapegoat, Mr Gul sent me an email containing details 
of the door supervisors working on the night of the stabbings & their individual account 
of events. I have attached a copy of this communication at Appendix 14. 
 
On Tuesday, 8th June 2021, following the application by Essex Police to review the 
premises licence, this office conducted a routine personal licence enquiry with 
Swindon Borough Council, the authority who licensed Daniel Capitanchik, to ensure 
that their records were current. On 9th June 2021, Swindon Borough Council Licensing 
Officer, Ashley Peachey confirmed that they had issued a personal licence to 
Capitanchik but that the address they had for him did not match that on the BLOC 40 
premises licence. I have attached a copy of this communication at Appendix 15. 

Page 74



 

 
On Tuesday,15th June 2021, I met and spoke with Principal Environmental Health 
Officer, Ms Elaine Higgins, and sought clarification as to whether she had ever 
received copies of the images taken during our visit and subject of two separate written 
requests to Mr Dadds, dated 25th September 2020 and 6th October 2020. Ms Higgins 
confirmed that she had still not even received an acknowledgement from Mr Dadds.  
   
On Tuesday, 15th June 2021, I met and spoke with Environmental Health Manager, Mr 
David Carter, who advised me that he has never been contacted by the owner or 
BLOC 40, or his agent, in relation to the installation and testing of a noise limiter. This 
appears to be a breach of Annex 2 condition 22 and Annex 3 condition 4. 
 
On Tuesday, 15th June 2021, I spoke with Planning Officer, Miss Brooke Pride, and 
made the following written request; 
“I would like to request confirmation if planning permission has been granted for the 
premises for the change of use to a nightclub with rear smoking area on the flat roof 
(fire escape) at First Floor, 40 High Street, Brentwood CM14 4AJ 

Since 2015 the first floor premises has been known as Brentwood Snooker Club, 
Sports Lounge and is currently known as BLOC 40 and operates with a 0200hrs 
premises licence and closing time of 0230hrs daily. 
The premises licence holder is AA Trading Ltd. and the director is Mr Ahmet Melin. 
Please could you also provide any planning or building regulations history on this site 
and confirm if you have ever received any written communication from either  
AA Trading Ltd., Mr Ahmet Melin or his agent, Mr David Dadds from Dadds LLP.” 
 
Later the same day I received the following response from the Planning Officer: 
“I can confirm we do not have any recent planning history on the site 40 High Street 
Brentwood, the latest planning application for this property was received in 1996. No 
permission has been granted for a change of use, smoking terrace or an extension of 
opening hours. I can also confirm no recent building notices or building control 
applications have been received since 2000 for any alterations or changes that may 
have occurred. Therefore, no correspondence from the owners/applicants have been 
received by planning or building control.” I have attached a copy of this request and 
response at Appendix 16. 
 
This memo confirms the Planning Development Management Team Leader, Miss 
Caroline McCaffrey’s communication, dated 7th July 2020, as a responsible authority 
consulted in BLOC 40’s application for a new premises licence submitted last year: 
I have attached a copy of this communication at Appendix 17. 
 
“Planning permission reference 95/00229/FUL permitted a first floor rear extension. 
The planning history refers to the premises as being a ‘snooker hall’.  
Condition 4 of planning reference 95/00229/FUL states, inter alia, “no balcony 
enclosure shall be formed on the roof of the extension permitted…”  
The plans that you’ve provided clearly shows the flat roof to serve as a ‘smoking area 
and consumptions of alcohol.  
Notwithstanding the change of use of the premises for which permission is required, 
the use of the flat roof as a balcony would also require specific planning permission.  
The local planning authority wishes to OBJECT to the granting of an extension to the 
licence sought, on the basis that the use of the premises, including the balcony, has 

Page 75



 

not been subject to a wider consultation that would be undertaken as part of a planning 
application and interested third parties have therefore not been provided opportunity to 
make comments on such a change of use and the impact that it has on the wider area” 
 
On Tuesday, 15th June 2021, I spoke with Technical Fire Safety Officer South West 
Area Command, Mr Garry Owles, who advised me that BLOC 40 has yet to conform a 
Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 in relation to safe capacity numbers and 
the size and opening capacity of the ground floor entrance door. I am advised that the 
Fire Service will now be taking a more pro-active approach to achieve compliance. 
I have attached a copy of this communication at Appendix 18. 
 
It is my contention that the repeated disregard to my lawful requests to Mr Melin and 
Mr Dadds to be provided with CCTV recordings at times when it had been alleged that 
the management at BLOC 40 were blatantly breaching coronavirus regulations has 
been nothing more than a deliberate ploy to prevent me from providing the Licensing 
Sub-Committee with the compelling evidence needed to revoke the premises licence. 
Whilst Mr Melin has repeated frustrated my attempts to provide the Licensing Sub-
Committee with supporting video evidence of his total disregard for compliance with 
the coronavirus regulations, I do produce a statement completed by PC 79316 
Harrison, one of the uniformed Essex Police officers who attended the stabbing 
incident at BLOC 40 in the early hours of 29th May 2021 and who spoke with Mr Melin. 
PC Harrison states that Mr Melin introduced himself as the owner, and how he tried to 
intervene in a scuffle as people tend to listen to the ‘gaffer’. Mr Melin said that in the 
many years he owned the bar this is the first time something like this has happened 
and he stressed that in his view his security team had done everything right. Mr Melin 
then stated that he thought the pandemic had been exaggerated and claimed that 
“whatever the new rules in June I will be opening and you guys will have to come and 
arrest me.” PC Harrison’s statement, dated 4th June 2021 is attached at Appendix 19. 
 
I will also be producing council CCTV recorded coverage of the area directly outside 
BLOC 40 on 17th October 2020 and 29th May 2021 which supports the claims that the 
management have made little or no attempt to comply with the coronavirus regulations. 
Details of the recorded coverage are attached in Appendix 20. 
 
On the majority of occasions that appointments have been arranged with the 
management to discuss concerns that have been raised, Mr Melin has been present 
with his agent, Mr Dadds, and no DPS has been in attendance. All requests made to 
Mr Melin, as the owner, have been done so in response to complaints or enquiries 
received or observations noted and all have been made, without prejudice, to ensure 
that the four licensing objectives are being safely and faithfully complied with. 
Undertakings offered in response to requests made in order to provide policy 
clarification on matters raised such as sound levels/noise limiter installation 
(environmental health), roof terrace safety (planning), safe capacity and exit strategy 
(fire service) coronavirus social distancing images (health & safety) and CCTV 
recording requests, dispersal policies and DPS attendance have not only been 
unforthcoming, but they have been blatantly ignored. Despite being provided with 
ample opportunity to address matters and allay concerns raised, the owner and his 
advisor have elected to be confrontational, obstructive and dismissive.  
 
 

Page 76



 

In conclusion and summary of my representation, it is clear that Mr Melin, the 
director of AA Trading Ltd (the licence holder) is the person in control of the 
licence, and that whoever the DPS is that is named on the licence has no active 
role in the management of the premises or in relation to the sale of alcohol.  
It is also evident that Mr Melin has already failed to comply with conditions that 
are already attached to the licence. Attaching further conditions is only a 
consideration if the licence holder is willing to comply with them. Not only has 
Mr Melin not complied with current conditions but demonstrates his disregard 
for the lawful requests and advice given by Responsible Authorities by not 
upholding undertakings made previously, particularly in response to previous 
issues to avert more formal action. 
 
It is my contention that the attachment of conditions, would not be effective in 
promotion of the Licensing Objectives and I see no point in seeking to ask for 
further assurances & undertakings that they have no intention of honouring. 
 
I, therefore, respectfully request that the Licensing Sub-Committee give careful 
consideration into revoking the premises licence at BLOC 40. 
 
 
If I can be of any further assistance please do not hesitate to contact me in the 
Licensing Office on 01277 312523. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Dave Leonard | Licensing Officer 
T: 01277 312523 | www.brentwood.gov.uk | dave.leonard@brentwood.gov.uk 
 
 

 
Dave Leonard 
Licensing Officer 

 

 

Page 77

http://www.brentwood.gov.uk/
mailto:dave.leonard@brentwood.gov.uk


Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249

Appendix H



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Members Interests 
 
Members of the Council must declare any pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests and the 
nature of the interest at the beginning of an agenda item and that, on declaring a 
pecuniary interest, they are required to leave the Chamber. 
 

 What are pecuniary interests? 
 

A person’s pecuniary interests are their business interests (for example their 
employment trade, profession, contracts, or any company with which they are 
associated) and wider financial interests they might have (for example trust 
funds, investments, and asset including land and property). 
 

 Do I have any disclosable pecuniary interests? 
 

You have a disclosable pecuniary interest if you, your spouse or civil partner, or a 
person you are living with as a spouse or civil partner have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest set out in the Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct.   
 

 What does having a disclosable pecuniary interest stop me doing? 
 

If you are present at a meeting of your council or authority, of its executive or any 
committee of the executive, or any committee, sub-committee, joint committee, or 
joint sub-committee of your authority, and you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest relating to any business that is or will be considered at the meeting, you 
must not : 
 

 participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, of if you 
become aware of your disclosable pecuniary interest during the meeting 
participate further in any discussion of the business or,  

 participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 
 
These prohibitions apply to any form of participation, including speaking as a 
member of the public. 
 
 

 Other Pecuniary Interests 
 

Other Pecuniary Interests are also set out in the Members’ Code of Conduct and 
apply only to you as a Member. 
 
If you have an Other Pecuniary Interest in an item of business on the agenda 
then you must disclose that interest and withdraw from the room while that 
business is being considered  
 
 

Page 257



 

 Non-Pecuniary Interests  
 
Non –pecuniary interests are set out in the Council's Code of Conduct and apply  
to you as a Member and also to relevant persons where the decision might 
reasonably be regarded as affecting their wellbeing. 
 
A ‘relevant person’ is your spouse or civil partner, or a person you are living with 
as a spouse or civil partner 
 
If you have a non-pecuniary interest in any business of the Authority and you are 
present at a meeting of the Authority at which the business is considered, you 
must disclose to that meeting the existence and nature of that interest whether or 
not such interest is registered on your Register of Interests or for which you have 
made a pending notification.  

 

Page 258



Licensing Sub-Committees 
 
To hear and determine applications that do not sit within the scope of delegation to 
officers, usually where representations have been received either by a third party 
against grant of a license, or from the applicant against intended refusal or revocation of 
a license/registration. 
 
The Planning and Licensing Committee has delegated all functions other than relevant 
policies and fees setting to officers, with the exception of those other matters as 
indicated below, which are heard by licensing sub-committee unless otherwise 
indicated: 
 
Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 
 

(a) Determination of any application type where a representation has been 
received in accordance with the legislation. 

 
(b) Determination of applications for review or expedited review. 

 
Hackney Carriage vehicles and drivers (including enforcement of ranks) and 
Private Hire vehicles, drivers and operators, with the exception of: 
 

(a) Suspension or revocation of drivers’ licenses (save for initial suspension 
under provision of Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
S61 (2B) if it appears that the interests of public safety require the 
suspension to have immediate effect). 

 
(b) Where representation has been submitted by the applicant/license holder 

against refusal of any application. 
 

(c) Where representation has been received from an applicant to vary a 
licensing or pre-licensing condition. 

  
Scrap Metal Dealing 
 

(a) Determination of applications where representations have been received 
against refusal in accordance with legislative requirements; and 

 
(b) Consideration of revocation of a license where representations have been 

received in accordance with legislative requirements  
 

Street Collections and House to House Collections 
 

(a) Appeals against refusal to grant or renew a license. 
 
 

Page 259



Licensing of sex establishments  
 

(a) Determination of all applications, revocations and appeals. 
 
Street Trading 
 

(a) Determination of applications where representation(s) has been received. 
 
(b) Determination of applications that fall outside of current policy. 
 
(c) Determination of matters relating to revocation of a license. 

 
Acupuncture, Tattooing, Skin and Ear Piercing and Electrolysis 
 

(a) Appeals against refusal to grant or renew a registration. 
 
(b) Revocation of a registration. 

 
Animal Welfare and Security, except for the following: 
 

(a) Appeals against refusal to grant or renew a license. 
 
(b) Revocation of a license. 

 
Exercise of Powers under Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960, 

except for: 
 

(a) Refusal and revocation of licenses, (other than urgent refusals which are 
delegated to officers) 

 
Mobile Homes 
 

(a) Appeals against revocation of a license and/or conditions attached to the 
grant of a license. 

 

Page 260


	Agenda
	3 Bloc 40, First Floor, 40 High Street, Brentwood, CM14 4AJ  - Review of premises licence
	Bloc 40 Redacted PL
	App B final
	Appendix B - Application for review.pdf (p.1-3)
	Appendix B - Bloc 40 Superintendents Certificate.pdf (p.4-5)

	Appendix C - Interim Steps Decision.
	Appendix D - Essex Police Public Bloc 40 Review hearing full bundle_Redacted
	Appendix E - Bloc 40 review representation Elaine Higgings - EHO
	App F fin
	Appendix F -  Bloc 40 Review Representation Supporting Document 2 David Carter - EH Manager.pdf (p.1-3)
	Appendix F - Bloc 40 Review Representation David Carter - EH Manager.pdf (p.4-5)
	Appendix F - Bloc 40 Review Representation Supporting Document 1 - David Carter - EH Manager.pdf (p.6-7)

	App G fin
	Appendix G - Dave Leonard  BLOC 40 appln to review PL - LIC REP 17JUN21.pdf (p.1-19)
	Appendix G - Dave Leonard REDACTED APPENDIX 1-7.pdf (p.20-131)
	Appendix G - Dave leonard REDACTED APPENDIX 8~18.pdf (p.132-190)

	Appendix H - Redacted Reps Bloc 40

	 



